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BY WAY OF EXPLANATION.

To the Members of the West Virginia Historical and Antiquarian So-
ciety and to the Readers of ils Magazine:

At the last session of the Legislature, there was established a “Bu-
reau of History and Archives,” which is placed under the control of
the Board of Public Works of the State, and to this Bureau there was
given an appropriation of more than the usual amount, and thus
this Bureau is made a State institution.

The West Virginia Historical Society was left with no appropria-
tion. To the Executive Board of the Historical Society, the situation
then presented for its consideration was what shall we do with the
Library, Museum and Magazine? The Bureau had funds and the
Legislative endorsement, while the Historical Society had neither
rooms, nor the ability to keep open its Library and Museum to the
Public, much less to publish its magazine.

Both of these organizations were for the same object and purpose,
the former managed by a large number of citizens who felt an interest
in the subject, and the Bureau made for State control only.

Under the circumstances, it was deemed best, if not a necessity,
that the Historical Society should transfer its holdings to the Bureau,
and to that end arrangements have been made.

Whether the Bureau will continue the publication of the West Vir-
ginia Historical Magazine, under this or any other name, we are not
prepared to state, but will be determined later.

Tt is presumed that the Board of Public Works will publish some
Historical papers, and with a new editor, well furnished with plenty
of time and funds, there will be given to the public an improved
paper.

Heretofore the publication of the Magazine has been the work of an
amateur at leisure moments, without funds to aid in the work, while
hereafter the same work will be that of a well paid professional,
and State officer. We feel justified in promising a more readable
Historical work.

To those who have heretofore read our magazine with patience and
forbearance, and to those especially who have aided us with their
free contributions, we return our grateful acknowledgments and sin-
cere thanks.
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@The West Wivginia Historvical and
Antiguarian Zroviety.

THE WILLIAM MORRIS FAMILY.

PIONEERS OF KANAWHA VALLEY.

By W. S. LAIDLEY.

It has been conceded by all persons that pretend to know anything
of the history of this Valley that William Morris and his family
were the first white people that made a permanent settlement in the
Kanawha Valley, and that they arrived here in the spring of 1774,
or the fall of 1773, the exact date not now being known. He came
from Culpepper county, Virginia, but whether he came directly or
stopped on the route, is uncertain.

Before the arrival of William Morris, there had been an attempt
made by one Walter Kelly to make a settlement on the Kanawha
river, at the mouth of Kelly’s creek, and some small improvement
made, but Kelly was killed by the Indians, and when William Morris
arrived, there was no white man in the valley and no settlement what-
ever.

We append hereto a diagram of the river, showing the streams
from the junction of the New and Gauley rivers, along the Kanawha
river, down to the mouth of Elk river. These streams have since
acquired their names and are given, as they are now known.
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Kanawma AND NEw River, WITH TRIBUUTARIES.

William Morris, when a boy about twelve years old, was about the
Scotch-yards in London, which place was a police headquarters, and
near the Thames, and out of curiosity he went aboard of a vessel,
and while the boy was aboard and looking about, the ship left her
mooring and he found himself on the way to America. After he
arrived at Philadelphia, he found that the vessel would not return
to England for some months, and the owner of the vessel took the
boy to his own home and there he was cared for and given an oppor-
tunity to show the spirit that was in him. The merchant was so
pleased with young William Morris, that he wrote to the boy’s father
for permission to retain him, and William remained until he was
grown and afterwards. He then went to Virginia.

He married Miss Elizabeth Stips, in Orange County. Whether he
lived in Orange, and after the organization of Culpepper, found him-
self in the new county or whether he made a removal, we know not.

When William Morris reached the Kanawha Valley, he made his
settlement at the mouth of Kellys creek, on the spot where Walter
Kelly had attéempted to make his home.

The family of William Morris was of such number and strength
that an ordinary Indian party was not willing to make an attack
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upon them, and the Morrises made arrangements to remain and if
necessary to fight it out on these lines.

They were on the ground when General Andrew Lewis with his little
army marched from Lewisburg to the mouth of the Kanawha, or
from Camp Union to Point Pleasant, which was in the fall of 1774.
The sons of William Morris, John and Henry, went into this army,
and were at the battle of Point Pleasant.

Afterwards, as the children of Walter Kelly became of age, Wﬂham
Morris presented each with a horse, saddle and bridle, although said
heirs had no title to the land and had no claim against Morris, but
to satisfy them that he did not want to take from them any claim they
might have had, without compensation, as Kelly had cleared a small
pateh and had tried to raise a crop and made some improvements
thereon, he paid this compensation.

It seems that William Morris and family went to work immediately
upon his arrival in this new country, and with his family made rapid
progress in.opening farms and building houses, and making prepara-
tions of defense against marauding parties of Indians, which for
many years afterwards, were constantly prowling through the coun-
try.

Shadrach Harriman was the last white man killed in this part of
the country, which was in 1794. This Morris settlement was in a
wilderness. It was one hundred miles west of Lewisburg in the
then county of Botetourt, afterwards Greenbrier, and about the same
istance to the Ohio river, on which there were no settlements he-
low Wheeling or Pittsburg.

In this wild wilderness of woods there were all sorts of animals:
in the river there were fish, and plenty of wild fruits and nuts in the
woods. There was no danger of starvation, and in one season they
would have their corn and gardens to rely upon.

But for the great drawback, the savage Indians, the enterprise of
making the settlement would have been made a pic-nic, but with
this eternal danger, it was anything else hut a frolie.

Imagine this small settlement, in the upper part of the valley,
with no market, they had to depend upon themselves for everything.

They brought their guns and ammunition, their plows, hoes, axes,
mattocks and all other tools they had.= There were no markets and
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no transportation, no stores nor mills nor factories. They must
manufacture their own goods or wear buckskin, and it was a long
ways east to go for powder, and nothing to the west could be had.

. There were not many other settlers that came until in 1788 when
the Clendenins came and made their settlement at the mouth of Elk
river. And when the county of Kanawha was organized in 1789, it
was said there were but thirteen voters in the county, but there were
118 residents of said county, in the year 1792.

William Morris was now an old man, and in 1792 he made his
will and in January, 1793, it was admitted to probate, which was
the first will recorded in the new county and it will be found in deed
book A, page 30.

His age is not known, but from the best information we have, he
was at least seventy years old and probably older.

The will of William Morris disposed of his real estate and men-
tions the names of his ten children. He evidently had fears that his
wife might wish “to engage herself in the bonds of wedlock” and he
provided that in such event, that the property he had given to her
should revert to his estate. She was not satisfied with the provision
that he had made for her by his will, for the record of the Court shows
that “she came into Court and broke the said will.” She preferred
to take her dower provided by law, rather than accept the provisions
of the will made for her. .

She afterwards married a young Irishman by the name of Thomp-
son, but she did not long survive her first husband.

Teonard and John, the sons of William Morris, were the execu-
tors of said will, and the witnesses thereto were Jacol Skiles, John
Cammel, William Morris, Jr., John Jones and Franky Jones.

John Jones and Levi Morris were on the bond of the executors,
in the penalty of one thousand pounds. Jacob Casdorph, John Moss,
and John Cammel appraised his personal estate, which was three
hundred and sixty pounds. There were Dudley, Jim, Deriah, Sally
and a girl, slaves of deceased.

From 1774 to 1792-3, William Morris resided in the Kanawha Val-
ley with his family. He had a wife and ten children when he ar- -
rived, eight sons and two daughters, Wd
a wife with some children, and they came with some horses and
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other stock through a wilderness where there was no road, and settled
down to hew out of the woods a home for themselves and their pos-
terity.

They were English and they were Baptists, and they had a little
church near the mouth of Kellys creek, close to the spot where the
little brick Methodist church now stands, and we hear that the rec-
ords of this church are with some of the descendants to this day.

They were all moral men and many of them religious men. They
lived for years surrounded by dangers that might at any hour destroy
their lives. They saw a civil government established, and a town
spring up near to their homes.

He lived through the Indian wars, through the war for Independ-
ence, saw the government of the United States inaugurated as well
as that of the county of Kanawha and the town of Charlestown.
Then the old Patriarch William, the Pioneer of this Valley, found that
he must go to another world, and he made his last will and he died
and was buried, somewhere, no one knows where.

Tn the history of Kanawha county by Gov. G. W. Atkinson, he did
not attempt to give the genealogy of this family and said it could not
be done, and still insists it can not be done, owing to the great num-
ber of them, the repetition of the names and their inter-marriages,
the want of family records, and the absence of monuments, &e.

We shall not raise any issue on this allegation, but will give such
as we can, in the best way that we can, and we know of no one that
can contradict the same.

" The children of William Morris, the Pioneer, are as follows:
William Morris, Jr., known as “Major Billy”.

Henry Morris.

Leonard Morris.

Joshua Morris.

John Morris.

Carlos or Carrol Morris.

Levi Morris.

Benjamin Morris.

I. Elizabeth Morris.

J. TFranky Morris. .

These are given by the will of the old pioneer, to which we have
referred.

HeHEEY QR >
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MAJOR WILLIAM MORRIS,

This was the eldest son of the old Pioneer. He was horn December
17, 1746.  Whether in Orange or Culgepper or some other county,
is not definitely known.

Catherine Carroll was horn March 15, 1751, somewhere in Mary-
land, and they were married May 10, 1768.

When and how this family learned of the Kanawha valley and
caught the western fever of emigration, has not been learned. In 1769
the western limit of civilization was in the country now called Green-
brier, and the inhabitants were not numerous. There may have heen
some hunters or explorers that had visited this part of the world, but
there are no particulars of their Teports. :

This son came with his father, and with his own wife and children,
He seems to have made his home at the mouth of Kellys creek, and
it is supposed that when his father became old, this son took the care
of the farm from his father.

He seems to have been engaged in making his home and farm com-
fortable, and especially engaged in searching out the country for good
tracts of land, and he hecame possessed of many large tracts of choice
lands.

When the new county of Kanawha was formed, he was one of its
Justices, and he was also one of the trustees appointed for the town of
Charlestown and Point Pleasant, when said town was afterwards es-
tablished.

There was no more Important person in the settlement than he,
who was known in later life, as Major William Morris, to distinguish.
him from the many bearing the same name.

He was in the Legislature from this county in 1792, 1793, 1794,
1796, 1797, 1798, 1800."

He was sheriff in 1801. -

In an old family Bible, in which is written “The property of Will
Morris, June 2, 1796,” we find the following :

“Aug. 19, 1794, William Morris and Catherine Morris, his wife,
“were taken in the Baptist church and on the 20th she was bap-
“tized.”
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This book bhecame the property of John Morris, says: “John Mor-
“ris, this his book, Apl 2, 1816.” Afterwards we find the endorsement,
“(Clatherine Morris, the owner of this book, died Sept. 3, 1823. Signed,
“John Hansford, Sr., 1824.”

This book was also the property of John Hansford, Sr., and in
1854 it belonged to Felix G. Hansford, and now is in the hands of
Bradford Noyes Hansford. The book was printed in 1791, by Tsaiah
Thomas in Mass.

It also appears in this Bible that William Morris was born De-
cember 17, 1746, and Catherine Morris was born March 15, 1751,
and that Catherine died September 3, 1823.

The children of Major William and Catherine Morris were:
Jane—born Nov. 3, 1770; mar. Maj. John Hansford.
Gabriel—born Dee. 27, 1772.

William—born Deec. 16, 1775, mar. Polly Barnes.
(Catherine—born Jan. 13, 1778; mar. Chas. Venable.
Carroll—born Nov. 2, 1779.

John—horn Aug. 24, 1783.

Cynthia—born Jan. 5, 1792 ; mar. Isaac Noyes.

SISOV G s

OF CATHERINE CARROLL.

In our Oct., 1904, Mag., it is said that Stephen Teays married
Mary Carroll, and that she came to the Kanawha on a visit to her
aunt, Mrs. Catherine Morris. And it is tradition that the Carrolls,
whose ancestors were Catherines, owned land where the city of Wash-
ington was afterwards located. If this is correct then they were de-
scendants of Daniel Carroll of Maryland, who owned a farm where
Washington now is.

Mrs. Morris was a woman of more than ordinary attainments,
and was highly respected by all who knew her. She outlived her hus-
band about twenty years, and by her will she left her estate to her
daughters Mrs. Jane Hansford, Mrs. Catherin Venable, and Mrs.
Cynthia Noyes. : -

The Morris family secured a large estate in land and there were
patents issued to them in Botetourt, Greenbrier and Kanawha, and
other counties; and Major William was the owner of most of these
lands.
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In the early days, the accumulation of a large personal estate was
unusual if not an impossibility. There was not much money, and
tobacco was made a legal tender. This was neither a safe nor a con-
venient investment; for pioneers, so far from market.

The will of Major William Morris was recorded in April, 1803,
and he left a large estate in land and six negroes

We will close our remarks on this member of the Morris family by
publishing an account of him and of the valley, which we find in the
Southern Literary Messenger of 1856, written by Dr. Henry Ruff-
ner, who had lived in this county and knew the people thereof.

BILLY MORRIS.

There was a Presbyterian minister who made a visit at an early
day to the Kanawha Valley, who was known as “Little Bobby Willson,”
and who passed safely through the wilderness of Sewall and Gauley
mountains, and on a Saturday evening arrived at the first inn that he
found in the Kanawha Valley, old Billy Morris’s.

Old Billy Morris, as everybody called him, because he had a son
called young Billy, was one of the seven brothers who were among
the first settlers in the country. They were a family of large, brave
and worthy men and all, except old Billy, hunters, while hunting
was the deep occupation of the country, but quiet and industrous
farmers, after they had farms large enough to yield them substance.

Old Billy differed from his brothers both in body and in mind.
They were tall and spare made; he was less tall and corpulent. They
were not, but he was remarkable for energy and strength of char-
acter. He was born to command, as much so as Nopoleon Bona-
parte, though in an humble sphere.

All the poor men and the ordinary men around him for miles,
fell naturally, so it seems, under his authority. He ordered and they
obeyed. He reprimanded, often severely, and they submitted, nearly
always humbly. He made them fear him, though he had no power
over them but the moral power of a strong mind. He made them
love him also with a sort of filial affection, though neither-they nor
any one else could tell why, for he was often gruff in speech, overbear-
ing in manner, and when he exercised kindness towards his neigh-
bor, he did it often more as a master than as a friend. But then,
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when he chose he had a masterly way of showing kindness, making the
recipient feel more grateful than if they had secured the same favor
from another man. In truth, he had a strong heart with an imperi-
ous will, and loved and hated with a power which was always felt by
those around him. To his children he was very kind and to his neigh-
bors, who did not oppose him, or offend his prejudices, he was a good
neighbor, a remarkably good mneighbor.

He had sagacity in matters of business, while others hunted bears,
he acquired choice lands, and improved his farm, erected mills, and
built flat boats for families emigrating to Kentucky, by which means
he became the wealthiest man among the primitive settlers in the
Kanawha valley.

Yet the man was not on educated man.

But he gave his children, especially his sons, a liberal education.
It may be supposed that such a man was bigoted in his opinions and
full of prejudices. Strong minded, self-relying men, not liberalized
by education, always are. As he was not disposed to tolerate opposi~
tion to his will, neither would he regard those with favor who differed
from him in religion or politics.

He was a Baptist, wholly and exclusively. He knew little of other
religious denominations, and had imbibed unfavorable opinions of
them. He seems to have some how gotten a particular dislike to the
Presbyterians, which was rather unfortunate at first for our Little
Bobby Wilson, though in the end, it was not.

It being Saturday evening when he arrived, Mr. Wilson was properly
concerned to discern how he might spend the next day in a Christian
manner, and whether providentially a way might be opened for him
to do a little good among these heathenish, whiskey-drinking, bear
hunting barbarians of Kanawha, for such was the character he had
heard of them. When Little Bobby saw what a corpulent backwoods-
man he had for his host, how loudly and authoritatively he spoke to
those around him, how rough were his manners and how dogmatical
his conversation, he was almost afraid to say a word to him about
religious worship. But in the course of the evening he found that
Morris was himself a member of the Baptist church, and that his
rudeness of manner proceeded not from ungodliness but from early
associations with rude and ignorant backwoodsmen. Therefore, he



4 Tae WesT VIRGINIA

ventured before going to bed to inquire if there was to be any preach-
ing in the neighborhood to-morrow. “No,” said his host, “None
-nearer than Elk.” “How far is that, Mr. Morris?” “Eighteen miles.”
Mr. Wilson then said, “Well, Mr. Morris, as I am a preacher of the

Gospel, and do not wish to travel or to be idle on the Sabbath day,
would it be convenient and agreeable to have preaching appointed
for me in this neighborhood? I suppose that a small congregation
could be collected ?”

“What profession are you of ?”

“I am a Presbyterian.”

“A Preshyterian are you! then you can’t preach about here. We are
“all Baptists, and have not much opinion about your sort o’ peo-
({ple.’)

This settled the question. Mr. Wilson left early mext morning,
and went to the little village of Charleston, just above Elk ferry,
where he found a Mr. Johnsbn, a Baptist, preaching out under the
trees, and Mr. Wilson was pressed by Mr. Johnson to preach, which
he did to the great satisfaction of his rural congregation, and the next
day he preached again in the Court House.

Mr. William Morris and George Alderson, were the first delegates

- from Kanawha county to the General Assembly of Virginia. Both
were able men in their way, but rather uncouth legislators by rea-
son of their ignorance of public affairs, and of the usages of polite
society. They both attracted notice by their backwood garb and
manners, and Alderson, also by his stammering tongue, which had
often to make three or four trials at a word.

Jane Morris (A—1) was born Nov. 3, 1770, and became the wife
of Maj. John Hansford in 1787, and it has been said they were mar-
ried in Lewisburg.

She was the oldest child of Major William Morris, and a sketch
of the Hansford family was published in our Jan., 1904, magazine.

She came with her father when she was but four years old and rode
in front of him on the horse and before she reached the end of her
journey they were attacked by an Indian.

She lived near her father until in 1798, when her husband built
on the opposite side of the river below Paint creek. Major Hansford



Hi1STORICAL MAGAZINE. b

was in the Flouse of Delegates from Kanawha from 1811 to 1818, both
inclusive.

She was an invalid for many of her last days, and she died on
August 12, 1854.

She had twelve children, one of whom was a girl, and she, Sarah
Hansford, born in 1792, married a William Morris, whose children
were Fenton, Joshua and John. ‘

Her sons were Herman, William, Morris, Felix G., John, Carroll,
Charles, Alva, Gallatin and Melton.

For further particulars of the Hansfords, see said January, 1904,
magazine. '

Of Gabriel Morris (A—2) we can give no information.

‘L

William Morris (A—3) the third of the name, was born Dec. 16,
17%5, and his wife was Polly Barns, who was the daughter of Joseph
Barns of Shepherdstown, and her mother was the sister of James
Ramsey, the inventor of the steamboat. See our magazine for July,
1903, for the family of Ramseys.

After the death of her husband she married BEdward Hughes—
see July, 1904, magazine.

This Billy Morris invented the “Slips or Jars,” a simple tool which
made deep well boring possible, and that the great utility of the in-
vention entitled him to he ranked among the inventors, and as a
great public benefactor.

The children of this family were:

Joseph Barns Morris; mar. Sally Hughes.
Catherine Morris; mar. Morris Hansford.
Roxie Morris; mar. Joel Alexander.
Janette Morris; never married.

Cynthia Morris; mar. Wm. White.

William, the TV ; mar. Julia Mitchell.
Maria Morris; mar. Norborn Thomas.
Thomas Morris.

P 2> o oo 0 M

Catherine Morris, who married Morris Hansford had four chil-
dren: William, Franklin, Monroe, and Emeline.
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Roxie Morris, who married Joel Alexander, had a large family,
whose names are unknown.
r
Janette Morris never married, and lived with her sister, Catherine
Hansford. She lived to be 80 years of age, and danced with the
children and never grew old.

Catherine Morris, (A—4), born January 13, 1778, and married
Charles Venable in 1800. He was one of the first to emancipate his
slaves. They left noychildren, but their home was one where the
young people delighted to assemble and where they were always found.

We have by tradition an incident of her that gives some insight to
her character, while she was a young lady, and at home, there was an
entertainment of some kind to be given, and to which she was invited,
to take place at the house of a relative on the opposite side of the
river, and it so happened that at the house there were none of the fam-
ily that were going, neither were there any one who was known to her
to be going; mneither was a boat on her side of the river known to
her, and it looked as if she would have to remain at home. She did
not like this situation and she wanted to go and she determined
that she would go. She prepared the clothes she desired to wear,
and after dark took them under her arm and went to the river. She
placed the clothes in a sugar trough she hauled to the river and shov-

ing the little boat ahead of her, she swam the river, dressed herself’

in the dry clothes, and proceeded to the house and enjoyed the pleas-
ure of the evening’s entertainment as if nothing unusual had taken
place. She was heard to say that she had done so often. She lived
not far from Charleston, on the South Side, now in the lower part of
Kanawha City, in a large brick farm house. She had no children.

Carroll Morris, son of Major William (A—5)

We know not whom he married. His children were:
Maria Morris; married :;?l:n %ansford.

Letitia Morris; married +—, Whittaker.
Parthenia Morris; married

Catherine Morris; married Dr. Sutherland. -
Michael and Carroll, Jr.

»
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Carroll Morris lost his life in attempting to swim acoss the Ka-
nawha, just below Upper Creek Shoals.

John Morris—(A—6), born Aug. 24, 1783. His wife was Polly
Duke. ‘

He sold his place to Aaron Stockton and removed to Missouri.
He had a son, Granville Morris, who was killed in the Black Hawk
war.

When John determined to go further west, he went to work to build
a boat, into which he took his family, negroes, wagons, tools and some
cattle, &e.

The entire Baptist congregation assembled at the river and a prayer
was offered for his safe journey and he launched his boat and left the
Kanawha valley.

A

Cynthia Morris (A—7), was born Jan. 5, 1792. She married
Isaac Noyes, who came from some of the northern states, and become
one of the leading merchants and salt manufacturers of this county.
For some time he lived on a farm, which is now included in Kanawha
City, and was the adjoining farm of Chas. Venable.

This couple lived to be very old and were known and respected by
the people of Charleston.

They were the ancestors of the Noyes and Smiths and Rands, Ar-
nolds and Rubys, who compose a large part of the inhabitants of
Charleston.

Col. Benjamin H. Smith, and his son, Maj. Isaac N. Smith, and
his son, Harrison Brooks Smith, were all lawyers of prominence, and
the latter is yet so engaged.

To write of Col. Smith would require a large volume, and the
space will not permit to go further into the later families.

HENRY MORRIS.—B.

He was the second son of William Morris, St.

He married Mary Bird of Bath County, Va.

She was, with her sister, captured by the Indians and taken to
Chillicothe and for seven years kept there, until she was sixteen years
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of age. When she and her sister were departing for their home, an
Indian child cried for her sister. They retained the sister, and she
was never heard of again.

Henry built his cabin on Peters creek of Gauley river, in 1791, and
his only neighbors were Conrad Young and Edward McClung.

Henry and Mary had eight children ; seven girls and one son. They
were Leah, Catherine, Margaret, Polly, and Betsy. There were two
other girls, whose names we can not give.

The only son was John Morris.

The incident of the murder of two children of Henry Morris is
given as follows:—There were two Indians and two white men, said
to be Simon Gerty and Saul Carpenter, who went near to Henry
Morris’ house on Peters creek, and while Margaret, aged 14, and
Betsy, 11, were going to drive in the cows, when the Indians attempted
to capture them ; Margaret tripped on a #ine while running, and was
caught and scalped, and died soon after her father found her.

Betsy also endeavored to make her escape, but in getting over a
fence, her dress, of home-made linsey, caught on a splinter on the
rail, and held her until the Indians came up and she was likewise
scalped and killed, and was found by her father with her dress still
fastened on the rail in the fence. This was in 1792. The children
were taken by the father, wrapped in a blanket and placed in a box
and buried together in one grave, and the family went to the Fort
on the Kanawha.

Henry Morris then and there swore eternal vengeance on all In-
dians. His neighbor, Conrad Young, had several sons, and each had
a gun, while Morris had but one gun, and the Indians were supposed
to have been watching a path that lead to the two houses, but they were
not seen any more by the neighbors.

Henry was a large, stout, healthy man, and had no fear of anything
and when aroused was a desperate one. He determined to kill every
Indian that he could find, and it was not long afterwards that he
heard of one being in the neighborhood and he took his gun and
started to find him, and followed him up Elk river and killed him
early in the morning, the particulars of which are published in the
Magazine for January, 1904, page 52.

And as long as Henry Morris lived, he never recognized any Indian
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“as a friendly one, and if there were friendly Indians in the neighbor-

hood, they had to keep the information from Henry, and get them
out of the way before he learned thereof, for he could not be per-
suaded to treat them other than as sworn enemies.

Henry Morris was at the battle of Point Pleasant, and was with
the men that went around on Crooked creek to attack the Indians on
the flank and rear.

He was an athlete and no man could cope with him in any game,
where strength, skill and endurance were required, such as running,
jumping and wrestling.

He cleared out a good farm on Peters creek, and there he raised his
family.

One of his girls married William Bird, of Bath County. They
settled on the Twenty Mile of Gauley, but afterwards settled on Syc-
amore, where they remained all their lives. Amnother daughter mar-
ried Jesse James, of Bath County. They settled on Otter creek, where
they had a good farm.  After their children grew up, Jesse moved on
to Elk river, not far above Charleston, and remained there all their
lives. One of the James girls married Arch Price, who lived on Elk
river.

Another daughter of Henry married one of the sons of his neighbor,
Conrad Young.

Henry Morris remained on his Peters creek farm until his death
in 1824.

John Morris, the only son of Henry, married Jane Brown in 1807,
and they had seven sons and five daughters, viz: Henry, Leonard,
Thomas, Ryan, John, and Silas. The girls were, Mary, Mattie, Jane,
Margaret and Sarah. Of these boys Silas is the only remaining one,
and he lives in Missouri. Mattie married W. B. Summers, and lived
on Peters creek until her death in 1903. Jane married Rev. A. N.
Rippetoe and she died in 1904, at the Cross Lanes. Thomas Morris
married Leah Ellis, and their oldest son was John Silas Morris, and
one of the sons of John Silas was Alfred N. Morris, who was born
in 1875 ; he was baptized and joined the Jordan Light Baptist church
in 1894 ; licensed to preach in 1897 ; married Virginia Belle Given
in 1899, and was ordained a minister in 1899.

Rev. A. N. Morris, of Anstead, Fayette County, was in possession
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of much of information concerning the Morris family of late date,
and the same can be secured through him.

Henry Morris secured a Patent for 600 acres of land on Peters
creek in 1793. ;

There was a grand-son of Henry Morris, who lived at Summers-
ville, Nicholas County, and he had a sweetheart on the Kanawha. He
would leave home after dinner and go down Peters creek, up Bell
creek, over Little Gauley mountain, down Hughes creek to the Kana-
wha, swim the Kanawha, march to Henry Jones’, where he found
her, and afterwards married her. She was a grand-daughter of Franky
Morris Jones, a sister of Henry Morris. Some one in speaking of
Henry Morris, said that he was a physical giant, an athlete and dare-
devil. That he was as fearless as he was powerful and as determined
as fearless.

LEONARD MORRIS.—(C.)

Leonard was the third son of William Morris, Sr.

It has been said that he was the original first settler, but as far as is
known, he came with the others. This statement probably grew out
of the fact that he was one of the first Justices, and attended the
County Courts and was probably more and better known to the vis-
itors than the others. In a controversy between the claimants of the
Burning Spring 250 acre tract, patented to Gen. G. Washington and
Lewis, it has been said that he was one of the witnesses who testified
that he saw, in 1775, the surveyors making the survey of this tract.
There is nothing in the file of the papers to show this, and we give
it as tradition. It is more than probably true.

He was in 1798 the sheriff of this county.

His home was at the mouth of Slaughters creek, and his neighbor
was John Flynn, who was killed by the Indians on Cabin creek.

Dr. Hale writes that a son of John Flynn was captured and taken
to Ohio and burned at the stake.

Lens creek perpetuates the name of Leonard Morris.

Leonard Morris married first Miss Price and afterwards, he mar-
ried Margaret Likens. :
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The first set of children were:—

1. John—he went to Missouri and died prior to 1831.
R. Meredith—he went south and was never heard of.
3. Mary—married Lawrence Bryan in 1794.

4. Sarah—married Fleming Cobb in 1794.

5. Elizabeth—married Robert Lewis.

6. Leonard, Jr.—married Mary Austin in 1805.

The second set of children were:—
Charles—married Lucinda Crocket of Ky.
Nancy—married John D. Shrewsbury.
Parthenia—married J. B. Crocket.
10. Joshua—married daughter of Jonathan Jarrett.
11. Hiram—never married.

12. Peter—married daughter of Jonathan Jarrett.
13. ~ Andrew—never married ; died 1822 in Indiana.
14.  Cynthia—married Samuel Hensley.
15. Madison—married Nancy Spurlong.

16.  Dickinson—married Susan, daughter of Jas. Morris.

$o 1% =

Hiram Cobb, a grand-son of Leonard’s, like most of the Morris
family, was hale and hearty and was proud of his strength. He made
a bet of one gallon of peach brandy that he would come in a canoe
from Point Pleasant to Charleston between suns, and he won the
bet. Some incredulous person made the remark that he had secured
the help of a negro man to help him through the Red-House shoals.
Cobb heard of the remark and he proceeded to give the slanderer a
threshing for his falsehood. .

Charles Morris—(C-—7), one of the sons of Leonard, was horn
in 1790 and died in 1861.

His wife was Lucinda Crocket, of Ky.

Their children were:—
Leonard—born in 1819; married Courtney Walker.
Hamilton—born in 1821.
Francis—died young.
Andrew—Dborn in 1828 ; went to Texas; died in 1875.
Charles—born in 1827; married Miss Foster; died 1875.
Margaret—born in 1829 ; married ~Samuels, attorney.

0 SR TRRE ORI
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7. Parthenia—born in 1831 ; married Thos. Swindler.
8. John—bhorn in 1833 ; married Miss Abton.

Leonard Morris, born 1819, resides at Brownstown, and although
he is eighty-six vears of age, has the appearance of being only sixty.

He has been an active, busy man of business all his life, and re-
members people and incidents of his early days, from whom we have
learned much here given.

Hamilton Morris, brother of the above Leonard, was born in 1821,
and resides in Charleston, and but for the fact that he has lost his
eyesight, would be as active as ever. “Ham Morris,” as he has been
called, was elected Clerk of the County Court of Kanawha County,
and was one of the most popular men in his county, and one of the
most efficient and reliable clerks that ever filled the said office.

Long may they both live.

JOSHUA MORRIS. (D.)

Joshua was the fourth son of William Morris, St.

He married Frances Simms of Virginia.

Their children were—

1. *William Morris—lived at Gauley Bridge; married Sarah Hans-
ford.

2. tEdmund Morris.
. V Henry Morris.

1Elizabeth Morris. ¢ W 1920 -
\ Lucy Morris, ’rh/*% .
yNancy Morris—married John Harriman.

+ Thomas Morris.

Mary Morris.
John Morris—born in 1794 in Culpepper County.

© P2 e e w

Joshua first settled in Teays Valley, but the Indians became trouble-
some and he removed back to the Virginia settlements, east of the
Alleghenies, but he did not remain, but again came and settled on
his lands on Mud river. William, his son, married Maria Hansford.

-
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They lived near the Falls of Kanawha, and removed to Missouri. They
had Fenton, Joshua, and John.

JOSHUA MORRIS® WILL.

This will was dated July 31, 1824, and was recorded on the 13th
Sept., 1824, in Will book No. 1, page 46 in Kanawha county. He
directs his debts to be paid and the residue to go to her surviving
children and children of deceased children, viz.: William, John,
Edmund, Henry, Elizabeth and Lucy Chapman and Nancy Harri-
man, each, in equal parts, the estate being divided into nine parts,
and the above named seven, and the children of Thomas, deceased, to
have one-ninth, that is, Armstead, Geo. K., Malon Morris and and
Frances Thompson and Polly, Kitty, Juliana, Cassandria, and Jen-
nett Morris, children of Thomas, and children of daughter Mary
Chapman, viz.: Joshua M. Chapman, Malon Chapman and Frances,
Mary and Nancy Chapman. My beloved wife to have the profits of
one third of his estate and Edmund and John Morris and Joshua M.
Chapman to be his executors.

JOHN MORRIS OF CABELL CO.—(D—9.)

The youngest son of Joshua Morris, was John Morris, who settled
in Teays Valley, in the upper part of Cabell County.

As we stated that his father, Joshua Morris, found the Indians
so badly disposed that he left this settlement and returned to Vir-
ginia, and there remained until peace was restored.

John was born in Culpepper County, Virginia, in 1794, and was
brought with his father’s family to Teays Valley, while quite young.

His first wife was Mary Everette, and their child was,

1. Eliza, who married William Love.

The wife of John died, and he then Mary Kinard, in 1819,
who was born in Culpepper Co.
The children were:— '
2. Charles K. Morris, who married Martha A. Kilgore.
Albert A. Morris, who died unmarried.
4. Joseph W. Morris, married Sarah A. Russell, he was a Capt.
in C. S. A. and was killed at Frederick, Md.

2
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5. Edna E. Morris, married Addison T. Buffington.

6. James R. Morris, married Helen M. Russell. :

7. Mary S. Morris, married first Ira T. McConihay, and then
John P. Sebrell.

John Morris was an extensive farmer, and stock raiser, and owned
many slaves. His home was east of Milton. He was more than once
elected to the Virginia Tegislature, and was well known throughout
Cabell and adjoining counties, as a man of wealth and influence.

When the civil war came on, he took his family to southwest Vir-
ginia, and while there he died in 1862, and his wife died after her
return home in 1876. While he was absent, his house was burned by
some of the Union Army and a great loss inflicted upon him and his
family.

His son Charles K. Morris was also a farmer and stock raiser,
and a man of influence in his county.

Joseph and James, both attended schopl at Marshall Academy, and
they married sisters, who lived between the town of Guyandotte and
the Academy, on the Ohio river. They were the daughters of John
Russell, of whom more may be learned in our October, 1901, Maga-
zine.

Joseph Morris died in the service of C. S. A.

James R. Morris, was also in the C. . A., and is yet living to tell
the tale; his residence is at Milton, W. Va..

The daughters of Mrs. Addison J. Buffington, reside at Parkers-
burg, W. Va. Their mother was Edna E. Morris. Mrs. Sebrell lives
in Putnam county, W. Va., and she is the mother of Dr. J. M. McCon-
ihay, of Charleston, and from her we learned much, and also from Mrs,
Reynolds, a daughter of James R. Morris.

JOHN MORRIS.—(E.)

John was the fifth son of William Morris, Sr.

His wife was Margaret Droddy, and their children were, John,
Edmund, Levi, William and Thomas Asbur , and if there were others
they are not known to us.
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Of what we know of John, is gathered principally from the life of
Bishop Thomas Asbury Morris, his son.

John was a captain of the Kanawha Militia in its earliest days; he
was one of the executors of his father’s will; he lived about five miles
above Charleston, on the South Side of the river, and afterwards re-
moved to Cabell county. He was, as was all the Morris family, a
strict Baptist. His son Edmund was a Clgrk of Cabell county court,
and was a politician and represented Kanawha county in 1809 in
the Virginia Legislature before Cabell was organized, and may have
been elected after Cabell county was organized. The older brother
removed to Kentucky.

BISHOP THOMAS ASBURY MORRIS.

He was born in Kanawha just above Charleston, April 28, 1794,
and when quite young in 1804, went with his brother, Edmund to
Cabell and assisted in the Clerk’s office. While there he was drafted
for military services in war of 1812, and started on the road when
his father secured a substitute, who followed and took his place, while
they were at Point Pleasant.

Thomas Asbury studied under William Payne, a teacher who taught
him to be a Methodist and he began to preach, and his first sermon
was at the house of his father. He continued and was encouraged by
the Spurlock brothers, Burwell and Stephen, who were prominent
Methodist ministers, and he finally was ordained and placed on the
circuit.

His first wife was Abagail Scales, a daughter of Maj. Nathaniel
Scales, January 23, 1814, and he lived at his first home, called “Spice
Flat Cottage.” Their daughter, Jane, born in 1815, married Joseph
G. Rush of Cincinnati, and their son, Francis Asbury Morris, was a
member of the Missouri Conference.

In 1836 Thos. A. Morris was elected a Bishop of the Methodist
Church, and in 1842 his wife died, and he in 1844 married Mrs.
Lucy Meriweather, of Louisville, Ky. In 1851 he met the Conference at
Charleston, and visited his early home, but it was all changed, so he
could not recognize the place. In 1871 his wife died, and in 1872 he
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married again, and in September, 1874, he died. He was a man of
great executive ability, and an earnest, faithful minister.

It was said of him by his cousins that he became a Methodist in
order to become a hishop, there heing no such office in the Baptist
church, but, when he became a Methodist he little dreamed of being a
Bishop. He came in contact with a Methodist, whose teaching con-
vinced him and being convinced, he followed the dictation of his
OWN conscience.

In 1808, there was presented to the County Court of Kanawha
county the following report on the establishment of a Ferry across
Mud Riwer, near the mouth of Mud River. In pursuance of a writ of
ad quod damnum, I have caused to come on the premises the follow-
ing jury, to-wit: Manoah Bostick, M. Holland, A. Reece, N. Scales,
J. Estes E. Morris, T. Buffington, W. Dingess, Jno. Morris, Jos. Hil-
yard, S. Sanders, and Chas. Alesbury, good and lawful men, who be-
ing duly sworn well and truly and impartially to inquire whether pub-
lic convenience will result from the establishment of a ferry across
Mud river between the Merritt mill and the mouth of Mud river, where
the road crosses from the Green Bottom and the mouth of Guyandotte,
leading to the Falls of the Guyandotte. Upon their oaths do say
that a public convenience will result from the establishment of a ferry
at the place aforesaid and in the opinion of the jurors aforesaid a ferry
ought to be established. In witness whereof the said jurors have here-
unto set their hands and seals, this 27th May, 1808.

Manoah Bostick,

Michael Holland,

Allen Reece,

Nathaniel Secales,

Joel Estes,

Edmund Morris,

Thos. Buffington,

Wm. Dingess,

John Morris,

Joseph Hilyard,

.Sampson Saunders,

Charles Alsbury.

This report was received by the Kanawha County Court and ordered
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to be recorded, which was done by A. Donnally, C. K. C. in deed book
C, page 306. This order probably was not executed until after the
County of Cabell was organized, and it will be noticed that the Court
House was not mentioned for the reason that there was none to men-
tion, even the town of Guyandotte was not mentioned but the place
was called the mouth of Guyandotte.

John Morris had deeds recorded in Kanawha, viz.:

From Reuben Slaughter, half 1000 acres, Hurricane, 1804.

From A. Bennett, 1780 acres, Mud river, 1804.

From Chas. Brown, 3500 acres, Mud river, 1805.

COMMONWEALTH VS. JOHN MORRIS, JR.

An interesting case is reported in Virginia Cases, 176, in which
Thomas Ward filed an information against Morris, Jr., in which it
is complained that Morris wrote a petition to the Legislature, in which
he stated that Maj. Ward, sherift of Cabell county, being desirous of
having the seat of justice for said county located on his own planta-
tion, where it was first held, is actuated by selfish and interested mo-
tives and not for the welfare and convenience of the majority of the
people of the county, and that the place he desires is on his own
land, almost inaccessible by reason of hills and mountains, not
near the centre of population or territory, and being sheriff has the
collection of the revenue, he persuades ignorant men to sign his peti-
tion and for so doing frequently stating that he will indulge them
for a time, which indulgence is a great favor, &c., &. The defendant
Morris plead that what he had written of Ward was true, and he was
ready to prove the same.

This raised a question of law which the Court referred to the gen-
eral court and the general court on June 12, 1811, decided that the
truth might be given in evidence in-justification, &ec.

The County of Cabell was established by Act, January 9, 1809, and
in the Act it provided that a commission should locate the public
buildings. On May 9, 1809, the commission reported that they do
fix the mouth of the Guyandotte, on the upper side thereof, in the mid-
dle of a field, &c., to be the place for said buildings, and this was
signed by John Shrewsbury, Wm. Clendenin, John Reynolds, Jesse
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Bennett and David Ruffner. The town of Guyandotte was estab-
lished by Act, June 5, 1810. ’

When was the C. H. removed from Guyandotte and to what place
was it removed, are questions yet unanswered.

CARLOS MORRIS.—(F.)

Carlos Morris, the sixth son of William, Sr. We are unable to give
information of this son, or of his family.

LEVI MORRIS.—(G.)

The seventh son of William Morris was Levi.
His wife was Margaret Starke, and after her death he married

Peggy Jarrett. P iy i
His children were :— 7 W gl").,
1.  Cynthia Morris, married T. Brannon,a hatter. 3 (
R. William Morris, married Sarah | /7'
3. Benjamin Morris, married Amanda Hamilton. \
4. James Morris, married Sarah Shelton. ¥ A % ?w
5. Geo. Washington Morris, married Sarah amilton, / 5/ 2 yz .
6. Frances Morris, married Wm. Spurlock.
7. Elizabeth Morris, married Levi Spurlock.
8. Martha Morris, married Burgess.
Levi was born in 1768 and died in 1834.

James Morris—(G—4)—son of Levi Morris, married Sarah Shel-
ton—they had four boys and eight girls, viz. :

George Morris—killed by fall on the ice, a boy.

Levi Morris—married Mary Voirs and went to N. C.

Benjamin Morris—married Ann Montgomery.

James D. Morris—married Alice I.. Hammaker.

Susan Morris— married Dickinson Morris.

Amanda Morris—married E. F. Flagg.

Sarah Morris—married Wm. Hamilton.

Ellen Morris—married Silas Custer.

Eva Morris—married Dr. Mauser, of Ky.
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Margaret Morris—married Joshua Harriman.
Emma Morris—married Dr. Early, and 2nd Wm. Riggs.
Mary Morris—died young.

BENJAMIN MORRIS.—(H.)

Was the eighth son of William Morris, Sr.
He was born in 1770, and died July 6, 1829.
His wife was Nancy Jarrett, who died in 1832.
Their children were:—
“1. Achilles Morris—who went as Capt. to Mexican war and died.
“R. TFrances Morris—married Wm. Shelton ; they went west.
~3. Virginia Morris—married J. Kincaid of Ohio.

4. Catherine Morris—married Miles Mauser of Ky.
~5. Jane Morris—married Jacob Johnson, of Monroe county.
~ 6. Celia Morris—married Capt. John Harvey.

7. Eden Morris—married Miss Edgar, of Greenbrier county.

8. Leah Morris—married Purdy.

Benjamin built the brick house in 1824, which is now known as
the “Dunn place.”

Morris Harvey, of Fayetteville, now more than eighty years of age,
was a son of Capt. John Harvey; his wife was Miss Dickinson, daugh-
ter of Hon. H. M. Dickinson, of Fayette county. His sister Fanny,
married Capt. Snelling C. Farley, of steamboat fame.

ELIZABETH MORRIS-SEE.—(I.) ()({ N

She was the ninth child of Wm. Morris, Sr.

She was married to one Mr. See, whose name does not appear.

It appears, however, that in 1792, there was an administrator op-
pointed for one(Mlchael Sefg;m Kanawha county, and Shadrack Har-
riman, Ed. McClung and Roland Wheeler were the appraisers of his
estate.

Michael See and Adam See, the sons of Geo. See.
Adam was born November 29, 1764, and they came from the South
Branch of the Potomac, near Moorefield. Whether the husband was
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Michael, and whether he was a brother of Adam See, we cannot, with
assurance now determine. Michael See was the only one of the name
mentioned among tithables in 1792. They lived near Witchers creek.

They had a negro boy, Jonathan, who was carried away by the In-
dians and he was afterwards made one of their chiefs, in Ohio. Dick
was a younger brother of Jonathan, who had grown up, and both
Jonathan and Dick, were sons of Dick Pointer, of Donnally’s Fort.
Dick belonged to Leonard Morris and expressed a desire to go and
see Jonathan. Mr. Morris gave his consent and furnished Dick with
horse bridle and saddle, and gave him such instructions as he could.
Dick started off to the Indian Chief Jonathan, and was gone but two
or three days, when he returned home and in explanation of his re-
turn said that he had concluded that it might be safer for him to re-
main at home and.let Jonathan come and visit him, and no doubt
this was a wise conclusion.

Frances Morris-Jones—(J.)—was the tenth and last child of Wil-
liam Morris, Sr.

She married John Jones. He was born in 1755, and died in 1838.
He was in the Battle of Point Pleasant.

Their children were:—

Gabriel Jones, who went to Culpepper county.
William Jones, who went to Indiana.

Nancy Jones, married Huddleston.
Thomas Jones.

Levi Jones, who went to Indiana.

Frances Jones, married Sand. Shelton.
Edward Jones, went to Indiana.

John Jones, went to Indiana.

Hilliary Jones, lived in Fayette county.
Benjamin Jones, went to Texas.

11. Cynthia Jones, married Mr. Funk, and 2nd Jabez Spinks.

For the history of this family, see the October, 1903, Magazine, 285-
288. John Jones came from Culpepper also, and was one of the sol-
diers of Gen’l Lewis’ army and was in the battle of Point Pleasant,
and afterwards in the Revolutionary war. He settled and lived above
Paint creek on the Kanawha river, and he was thrifty and had a good

S R OB
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home and farm and acquired considerable land. He was a member of
the Baptist church, located at Kellys creek.
. His wife survived him.
Before her death, she had prepared monuments for herself and
husband.
. She was the youngest of William, Sr., and was known as “Franky.”
Col. B. H. Jones, of the 60th Va. Infantry, C. S. A. is said to be a
grand son of John and Franky Jonmes. He died at Lewisburg, and
had written much of the late war.

MARRIAGES OF THE MORRIS FAMILY.

. We take the following list of marriages from the records of Kana-
wha county. Owing to the fact that there are so many of the same
name, we are not able to designate the person or-to locate them in
the proper family. i i

1793 Sarah Morris and Chas. Young—DMar. 20, by F. Watkins.

1795 Sarah Morris and Fleming Cobb—by Jas. Johnson.

1796 Elizabeth Morris and Joseph Hilyard—by Jas. Johnson.

1796 John Morris and Mary Ann Coleman—by Jas. Johnson.

1794 Mary Morris and Lawrence Bryan—Nov. 9, by F. Watkins.

1800 Catherine Morris and Chas. Venable—by Jas. Johnson.

1802 Luecy Morris and Joseph Chapman.

1803 Edmund Morris and Sally Estill—11th Sept.

1804 John Morris and Jane Jordan—Apr. 20.

1805 Leonard Morris and Mary Heister—July 13.

1806 Polly Morris and Jas. Ellison.

1807 Cynthia Morris and Isaac Noyes.

1807 Miriam Morris and IEason Hannon.

1807 John Morris and Jane Brown.

1802 John Morris and Hannah Morrison.

1824 Maria Morris and And. Slaughter—May 5.

1824 Parthenia Morris and Absalom Walls—Feb. 29.

1824 Roxalena Morris and Joel Alexander—June 7.

1824 James C. Morris and Polly Webster.

1832 = Letitia Morris and Norris Whittaker.

1834 Leonard Morris and Eliza Ann Jones.

1834 Geo. W. Morris and Sarah A. Hamilton.
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We have given a start on the history of the Morris family and of
their genealogy.

We can not go further in the line of descent, and we have now taken
much space.

No doubt but we have omitted some and may have located some
names in the wrong families, but we have endeavored to learn the
facts and give them as we have learned them.

We can but notice that all the descendants have not remained loyal
Baptists, and no doubt “Major Billy” will require of those who have
dared to deny the family faith, some satisfactory explanation.

To those who would pursue the subject of the genealogy of the de-
scendants, we refer them to Rev. A. N. Morris, Anstead, Fayette
county, West Virginia.

POINT PLEASANT.—1749-1905.

One of the most historic towns in West Virginia, is Point Pleasant;
the “Jamestown of the Ohio Valley.” It is the oldest English town
on the Ohio river, South of Pittsburg.

Dr. Hale, in his History of the Kanawha Valley, says: “That be-
fore the founding of Marietta, and while the owl hooted amid the
branches of the lofty trees, the howl of the wolf, and the scream of
the panther resounded through the forests, and while the fox dug his
hole unscared on the site where now stands that city, daring pioneers,
among whom were Daniel Boone, John Van Bibber, John Reynolds,

< Isaac Tyler, Michael See, Robert St. Clair, Benamin Eulin, Leeman
Gibbs, were dwelling in their cabin homes, around the walls of old
Fort Randolph, fourteen years before a white man had found a home at
Marietta. Fort Henry, and Fort Randolph, were both built the same
year. It is twelve years older than Charleston, the Capitol of West
Virginia, fifteen years older than Cincinnati, seventeen years older
than Gallipolis, twenty-two years older than Chillicothe. It is seven-
teen years older than Harrodsburg, Kentucky, in which State, the
first log cabin was built the same year that Fort Randolph was reared
at Point Pleasant. This town is at the junction of the two rivers,
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Ohio and Kanawha, where their waters mingle together and flow
onward to the Mississippi, “The Father of Waters.”

It was first known as “Mouth of the Great Kanawha,” and was
not called Point Pleasant until after 1774, at least there is no record
to show that it was. :

At the mouth of the Great Kanawha, where it empties into the Ohio,
it has the appearance of a lake surrounded as it seems to be, by the
Ohio and West Virginia hills.

From the point known in “Border Warfare,” as “Cape Pleasant,”
looking up and down both rivers, it is an enchanting scene, unsur-
passed in beauty and grandeur. You would be fortunate to visit the
spot, as the sun is sinking behind the western hills, tinging the whole
horizon with the most gorgeous colors, beyond the skill of an artist’s
pencil, or stand there and watch the moon come up over the Kana-
wha hills, its silver light dancing on the waters, touching here and
there the tree tops, that grow along the banks of the rivers.

You almost see the canoe, with its painted warriors, stealthily glid-
ing in and out among the shadows, and hear the muffled dip of the
paddles, as they silently steal along the shore.  This locality was
known by the Wyandottes, as “Tu-en-die-wie.”

The Kanawha river was called by the Miamis, “Pi-que-me-ta-mi,”
and by the Delawares, “Ken-in-she-ke-cepe.” (White stone river.)

It is put down in the oldest maps as New or Wood’s river, from its
source to its mouth ; you will again find it, as Kanawha, from its source
to its mouth; later on, it was called New, or Wood’s river, from its
source to the mouth of Greenbrier, and Kanawha, to its mouth. At
the present day, it is known as Kanawha, from its mouth to the mouth
of Gauley river. New river was discovered by Col. Abraham Woods
in 1654, and he named it “Woods river”, which name is now obsolete.
Kanawha, it is supposed, was taken from a tribe of Indians, who
lived on the Potomac. The town of Point Pleasant was included in
the land grant of General Andrew Lewis, for his services in the
French and Indian war. He left it in his “will” to his son, Thomas,

who came out somewhere about 1789, and took possession of it. The “~
General Assembly of Virginia, December 19, 1774, enacted\“That two -

hundred acres of land, the property of Thomas Lewis, at the mouth
of the Kanawha river, in said county of Kanawha, as they are already

N

b
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laid off in lots and streets, shall be established a town, by the name
of “Point Pleasant”, and T.eonard Cooper, John Van Bibber, Isaac
Tyler, William Owens, William Allyn, John Reynolds, Allen Pryor,
George Clendenin, and William Morris, gentlemen, appointed trustees
thereof.” The town was incorporated in 1833. Mason county was
formed from Kanawha, Jan. 2, 1804, and named in honor of George
Mason, a prominent man of the Revolution. The first court was held
at the residence of William Owens in a log house; now owned by Judge
Geo. Poffenbarger, of the Supreme bench. The following Justices
composed the court: Francis Watkins, Edward MeDonough, John
' Henderson, John McCulloch, Michael Rader, Andrew ILewis, (son
of Col. Charles Lewis), Francis Watkins, opened court; William
Sterrett qualified as clerk, receiving a commission from John Page.
Mr. Sterrett was drowned, getting off a steamboat at his home sev-
eral miles above Point Pleasant, one dark night, when quite old. Syl-
vester Woodward, John Kerr, Robert Robinson, were granted license,
to practice law. Mr. Woodward was appointed Commonwealth’s At-
torney; Samuel Clemens, Commissioner of Revenue, Robert McKee,
Surveyor of Lands, William Owens, proper person for Colonel of the
county so recommended and Jesse Bennett, for Major.

The first court, when Kanawha included Mason county, convened at
the “Clendenin Fort,” now Charleston. Thomas Lewis was first sherift
and William Cavendish first clerk.

We will now turn to the earlier days of Point Pleasant, and men-
tion some of the first visitors known to have been at the “mouth of the
Great Kanawha.”

The first white man known to have been here in the Kanawha Val-
ley and at the mouth of the river, was Wllham Arbuckle, a noted and
daring pioneer, in 1764.

In 1749, the French engineering and exploring party, under Cap-
tain DeCeleron, came down the Allegheny and Ohio rivers, planting
leaden plafes bearing inscriptions, claiming all the territory drained
by these waters, to the French crown. They landed at the mouth of
the Great Kanawha in a severe rain storm, and were detained for
several days, and like many others found it a pleasant resting place.
On their departure they buried their fifth plate and Celeron wrote in
his journal, “Buried at the foot of an elm, on the south bank of the
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Ohio and on the east bank of the Chinondaista, the 18 day of August,
1749.” 'The inscription it bore was this: “In the year 1749, reign of
Louis XV, King of France, Celeron Commandant of a detachment sent
by Monsieur, the Marquis de la Talissoniere, Commandant General
of New France, to establish tranquility in some Indian villages of
these cantons, have buried this plate, at the mouth of the river Cheno-
dashetha, the 18th August, near the Ohio river, otherwise “Beauti-
ful river,” as a monument of renewal of possession which we have
taken of the said river Ohio, and of all those which fall into it,
and of all the lands on both sides, as far as the sources of said rivers;
the same as were enjoyed, or ought to have been enjoyed, by the pre-
ceding kings of France, and that they have maintained it by their
arms, and by treaties, especially by those of Ryswick, Utrecht, and
Aix-la-Chapelle.” The last plate, (the sixth), was buried at mouth
of the Great Miami. The plate buried at the mouth of the Kanawha,
was found in 1846, by a small hoy, nephew of Col. John Beale.
James M. Laidley, a member of the Virginia Legislature, took it to
Richmond, and gave it to the Historical Society, who made a copy of
it, and then, it is said, returned it to the finder, who sold it, and it
is now lost sight of. A duplicate copy is preserved in the National
archives, Paris.

In 1760 a party of Indians of the Shawnees, made a raid by way
of the Kanawha and Greenbrier rivers, to the settlements of Jackson’s
Tiver.

They carried off a number of prisoners, among them Mrs. Robert
Renix, and her five childfen, and Mrs. Hannah Dennis. Mrs. Renix
was returned, with two sons, Robert, and William (afterwards became
prominent men of Greenbrier) in 1765.

Mrs. Dennis was separated from them and taken to ome of the
Chillicothe towns. She made her escape in 1763 ; she crossed the
Scioto four times, pursued by the Indians, found her way finally to
the Ohio river, opposite the mouth of the Great Kanawha, when the
rivers were in a flood, and crossed over on a drift log and continued
her flight up the Kanawha until she reached the settlements on the
Greenbrier, where she was kindly cared for at the cabin of Archibald
(lendenin a few days before the horrible massacre there, when Mr.
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Clendenin and the whole settlement were killed. Mrs. Dennis es-
caped, having gone on to her home on Jackson’s river.

A vast tract of land, 500,000 acres lying west of the mountains, and
south of the Ohio, was granted by the king of England to a company
of planters and merchants. This company was known as the “Ohio
Land Company.”

The colonists had a great desire to cross the mountains and possess
this “unknown country.” They employed a noted woodsman and sur-
veyor from on the Yadkin, N. C., as their agent to explore this wil-
derness. This man was Christopher Gist. He left Wills creek, (now
Cumberland, Md.), Oct. 31, 1750, and reached the Allegheny, and
went down the Ohio to the Falls and on his return stopped at the
mouth of the Great Kanawha, where he spent some time exploring the
country morth of the Kanawha. His journal is to be seen in the
Mass. His. Society. He made the first settlement of eleven families,
on the land of the “Ohio Land Company,” and named it “Mononga-
hela,” not far from “Fort Necessity,” and General Washington went
to see him there. This settlement was destroyed after the defeat at
“Fort Necessity.” Nothing farther is known of this surveyor. The
Ohio Land Company failed on account of hostilities, and Col. Geo.
Mercer went to England to look after the title to this land. While
there he wrote to Lord Fairfax, telling him of a proposed govern-
ment to be called “Vandalia,” its seat to be at the mouth of the Great
Kanawha.

The advertisement of Washington’s lands in the “Virginia Gazette”
of that day, clearly proves that Washington was not ignorant of this
scheme. He spoke of the land “as contiguous to the seat of govern-
ment, which is more than probable will be fixed at the mouth of the
Great Kanawha.” The Revolution put an end to all these plans, nego-
tiations, and aspirations. Dr. Hale, in his Trans-Allegheny gives
a thrilling account of his great-great grand mother’s capture by the
Indians, and her most wonderful escape. Mrs. William Engles, along
with her brother’s wife, Mrs. Bettie Draper, who were taken prisoners
by a party of Shawnees who made a raid on the Draper’s Meadow set-
tlement, July 8, 1755. They were carried down the Kanawha and
again passed the Point on her return as she was fleeing from her
captors. She was the first white woman known to have been at the
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mouth of the Great Kanawha. A trip over the C. & O. R. R. will give
some idea of this perilous undertaking of Mrs. Engles to reach her
friends on Jackson’s river. In 1770, George Washington, Dr. Craik,
William Crawford (who met such a fearful death of torture at the
hands of the Indians, June 10, 1782), came to the mouth of the Great
Kanawha to locate and survey land given to the officers for their ser-
vices in the French and Indian wars. They left Mount Vernon Oct. 5,
1770, and reached their destination Oct. 31st. They encamped, it is
thought, by the big spring near the K. & M. depot, that has always
been known as the “Washington Spring.” Daniel Boone built his
cabin along side of this spring. “While Washington was here, an aged
Indian chief came a long way to see him and told him through an in-
terpreter that during the battle with Braddock he had fired his
rifle at him many times, and directed his young warriors to do the
same, but none of the balls took effect. He was then persuaded that he
was under the especial care of the Great Spirit, and ceased firing at
him : that he had come a long way to pay homage to the man that
could never die in battle.” The survey contained 80 square miles.
Those entitled to this land, were Andrew Lewis 9876 acres; George
Muse 5000, Peter Hog 5000, Andrew Stephenson 8000, Peter Hog
another tract 3000, George Muse another tract 5026, Andrew Wag-
goner 3400, John Poulson 6000, John Trust 6000. They then went
on the lower side of Kanawha, and surveyed the Hugh Mercer tract,
opposite Gallipolis, 13,532 acres and 10,990 for himself on the farm
of General John McCausland, (C. S. A.) bhelow Buffalo, where
one of the “markers” of this survey recently went into the river.
When the work was finished General Washington and party (number-
ing twenty) returned, by Fort Pitt, home, the same route they came,
and reached Mount Vernon Deec. 1st.

In 1772, George Rogers Clarke made a visit to the mouth of the
Kanawha, in company with Rev. Dan’l Jones, on his way down the
Ohio river. They went up the Kanawha, shot a buffalo and a deer.
They reported the country “well watered, but great danger of ma-
laria.”

In 1771, Simon Kenton was in the Kanawha Valley. Benjamin
Stribling of the same Family as that of Mason county, came down
the Kanawha river in a canoe and went on down the Ohio river to
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trade with the Indians, date not known. Thomas Bullett with a party
was at the mouth of the river on his way to Kentucky to locate lands
in 17¥3. Point Pleasant dates back to the arrival of General Lewis’
army, Oct. 1, 1774. After the battle, many of them returned and
built their cabins around Fort Randolph, and the descendants of these
people, are still to be found in the county. The Lewis’, Clendenins,
Easthams, Hendersons, Stevens, Coopers, Newmans, Longs, Millers,
Reynolds, St. Clairs, Van Bibbers, Eulins, Gibbs, Harris’s, Cantrils, and
a host of others. General Lewis’ army encamped on the point, the
General living higher than that surrounding it, and no doubt from the
unobstructed view up and down both rivers gave them a feeling of
security. :

The battle of Point Pleasant, a baptism of blood, is familiar to all,
and suffice it to say, it was the most memorable event in the history
of the Kanawha Valley, and so far-reaching as to make it one of the

~~_ most important in our nation’s history. Here on this point, where
_,>stood old Fort Randolph, when first built and garrisoned, rest all
that remains, of those gallant men, who crossed the rugged mountains,
and through the trackless wilderness, from Fort Union (now Lewis-
burg) 160 miles, to the Ohio river, who fell in that battle Oct. 10,
1774.
None were ever removed, and there they have lain, the flower of
. General Lewis’s army forgotten it seems, by both friends and our
nation, for whom they laid down their lives. To-day, not a shaft, or
tablet, marks the spot, though 131 years have passed. A few patriotic
men and women, are now working to honor the memory of those men.

The officers who lie buried in the “reservation” in the square, which
has been purchased for the purpose of erecting a monument are as fol-
lows :— ‘

Col. Charles Lewis,

Col. John Fields.

Capt. John Murry.

Capt. Robert McClenahan.

Capt. Samuel Wilson.

James Ward.

Lieut. Hugh Allen.

Ensigns—Cardiff and Brecken.
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Capt. John Frizzle Sulter, and forty-four privates.

Those wounded :—

Col. William Fleming.

Capt. John Dickinson.

Capt. Thomas Buford.

Capt. J. Skidmore.

Lieut. Goldman.

Lieut. Robinson.

Lieut. Lord.

Lieut. Vance.

Seventy-nine privates, many of whom died.

The dead were taken back to the encampment the morning after the
battle, and history tells us that General Lewis, after attending to this
burial, pursued his enemy until in sight of the Indian towns on the
Scioto, where he met Lord Dunmore, who had commanded part of
the army in person, and had taken the route by Fort Pitt. It is sup-
posed General Lewis crossed his army at the mouth of Old Town
creek, on the rafts left by Cornstall’s army in their rapid flight. After
the treaty at “Camp Charlotte,” he returned to Point Pleasant, and
on back to Augusta county, where he dishanded his army. "A “Roster”
of this army is preserved in the Wisconsin Historical Society, with
the exception of three companies, which have been lost. At the cele-
bration, held at Point Pleasant Oct. 10, 1874, Dr. Hale had published
in the “Charleston Courier,” and circulated a letter, or report, con-
cerning the battle, that he found in a bound volume of the “Belfast
News,” of 1774, in the Library of Belfast, Ireland. It was very in-
teresting, and was supposed to have been written, by Captain Ar-
buckle, though no name was signed.

It was dated, from “The Camp Point Pleasant, at the mouth of
the Great Kanawha.” In looking at this, it would appear that the
name there originated, for every soldier’s camp, must have a name.

Many have supposed, that General Washington having alluded to
it, in 1770, as a “Pleasant Point”, gave it the name. At the mouth of
Old Town Creek, there was once an Indian village, it was deserted
about the year 1760 ; perhaps the floods of the Ohio river had driven
them to higher ground. Thomas Lewis had his house built near the
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mouth of this creek, which is now owned and occupied by the venerable
Owens Roseberry.

In 1776 Point Pleasant was the only place occupied by the whites,
between McLelland’s Station, near Georgetown, Ky., and Grave creek,
near Wheeling. The great chief Cornstalk was born in the Kanawha
Valley, in 1727. He was opposed to his tribe joining the British
against the colonists, and in 1777 came to the garrison, to talk over
the situation. Captain Arbuckle detained him, along with Red Hawlk,
and another warrior. His son, Ellinipsico, became uneasy at his long
absence, and came opposite the fort, and called over to enquire about
him. He was brought over, and when they met embraced each other,
most affectionately. In the course of the summer, the governor had or-
dered an army to be collected, at Fort Pitt, and descend the Ohio
river, to Point Pleasant, under command of Gen. Hand to join some
companies, to be raised in Augusta, and Botetourt, to be commanded
by Col. George Skillern, and together march to the Shawnees towns,
and compel them to mneutrality. About forty were enlisted from
Greenbrier, Captain Hamilton and Lieut. Renick were in command,
General Hand did not succeed, in raising his men. While those troops
were at Point Pleasant, the atrocious murder of Cornstalk, and his
party occurred. Tt is related by Col. John Stuart, in his “memoirs”,
who was an eye witness to the great tragedy. Two members of Cap-
tain Hall’s company, from Rockbridge county, Hamilton and Gil-
more, went across the Kanawha, and Gilmore was killed by a couple
of young Indians. This so exasperated the rest of the company that
every man of the company rushed to the tent and murdered the whole
party of Indians. As an excuse for this dastardly ‘deed, some of the
ancestors of these men had suffered very severely from a raid, led by
Cornstalk, into Rockbridge county, not many years hefore.

Cornstalk was first buried, at the intersection of the present Viand
street and Main. They were taken up August 4, 1840, and removed
to the Court House yard, where they now lie, on the lower part of the
yard. A small monument was chiseled out of Gauley rock, by some
Italian workmen, employed by Col. Munford, of N iagara Falls, while
constructing Lock 11, and placed in the Court yard, to his nemory.
Hon. C. E. Hogg was the orator for the day when it was unveiled.
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and his address for beauty of thought, as well as the historical part,
should be preserved.”

Fort Randolph, as it was first built, must have been very insuffi-
cient, as the Legislature in 1776, directed “another to be built, and

CORNSTALK MONUMENT.

manned.” At this time, the location was changed, a little farther up
the Ohio river, on the site now occupied by a large brick building,
erected by James Capehart, Sr., (long since dead) for a store, now
used as a tenement house. -

As late as 1784, Col. Andrew Lewis, son of General Andrew Lewis,
on a visit to his brother here, spoke of seeing the ruins of this fort.

In 1778 George Rogers Clarke, passed through Point Pleasant, on
his expedition to Kentucky. Captain Arbuckle joined him, leaving
Lieut. McKee in command. Captain William Arbuckle, married the
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widow of Captain Robert McClenahan, (son of the emigrant, a native
of Ireland, who came to Augusta, at an early day.) Captain Mec-
Clenahan was in command of a Botetourt company, under Colonel
William Fleming, and was killed in the battle of Point Pleasant. He
was a warm personal friend of Col. John Stuart of Greenbrier, and
with him and Thomas Renix, first settled Greenbrier county, in 1769,
near where Frankfort now is. A

William Arbuckle, and his wife, Kitty Madison Arbuckle, lived in
the Fort, where two of their children were born. He purchased a
farm, on the Kanawha river, and there lived until their death. His
tomb, along with his wife’s, is in the grave yard, that surrounds the
Arbuckle church. Here is the simple inscription to this great pioneer.

William Arbuckle,
Born
March, 1752.
Died
March 21, 1836, aged 84 years.
Kitty Arbuckle,
Died
July 18, 1818, aged 64 years.

In 1778 a large force of Indians besieged the fort, but not being
able to take it, withdrew, and went on to the Greenbrier settlement.

Their last raids were in 1791, and 1792, carrying off several prise
oners, the last time, the two Miss Tylers, who had gone out of the
Fort, to search for their cows. In 1775, Dr. Joseph Alderson cut the
first wagon road through the mountains, opening up the country, to
the Ohio river. The first white child said to have been born, at Point
Pleasant, was Leonard Cooper, son of Capt. Leonard Cooper, who
was from Maryland, and was in the battle of Point Pleasant.

Capt. Leonard Cooper died in 1808.

In 1874, a celebration was held at Point Pleasant, which was largely
attended by many old people of the Valley. The object of this cele-
bration was to revive interest in a commemoration monument to the
battle of Point Pleasant.

A “Monumental Society” had been started in 1860, and some little
money raised for the purpose. The civil war put an end to this effort.
Hon. Edmund Sehon, introduced a bill in the Legislature, which was
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passed in 1875, for $3,500. It was placed out on interest and in
1901, having accumulated to $8,788.33, it was used by the “Commit-
tee”, appointed by Governor A. B. White, to purchase the square on
which the “reservation” was located, to prepare for a monument,
when the money could be raised. On the 10th of October, 1901, the
one hundred and twenty-seventh anniversary of the battle, the Park
was opened, to the public and 10,000 persons were present, from many
parts of our country, as it attracted great attention. Among those
present, was Mrs. Elizabeth Thompson, of Huntington, a grand daugh-
ter of Col. Charles Lewis, and Mr. John S. Lewis, a grand son, also
a great grand son of Lieut. Hugh Allen, who was killed in the
battle. Dr. C. N. Whaley, a son of a Revolutionary soldier from
Pomeroy, Ohio, was in the parade. The orators for the day were
Hon. Charles Grosvenor, of Ohio, and Col. Bennett Young, of Ken-
tucky. He brought with him the pioneer suit of Daniel Boone.

The “Daughters of the American Revolution,” were given the great
honor by the “Monument Committee,” of Christening the Park, and

PArk AT PT1. PLEASANT.



104 TaE WesT VIRGINTA

they gave it the Wyandotte name, Tu-endie-soie. The old log cabin,
which was used as an “Inn”, in pioneer days, built by Walter Newman
(who fought in the battle, ) in 1797, was converted into a museum for
the day, and it was filled with relics, money could not buy. Anne
Bailey’s ashes were taken up, from Clipper Mills, Ohio, by the “Col.
Charles Lewis Chapter,” and placed along side of the soldiers she
had risked her own life, so many times to save.

In grading the park a great many skeletons were unearthed, all over
the square, outside of the reservation, and some of these w ere perfect

SKULL—DP71. PLEASANT.
until removed. One skull had every tooth in the jaw. Many were men
of very large stature. They were huried in trenches, from the posi-
tions in which they were found.

The oldest houses in the county are William Sterrett’s (first clerk
of the county) about one mile and a half up the Ohio river:; Mr. Otis
Stribling’s in the lower part of Mercer’s Bottom on the Ohio; the
Smith home at the mouth of the Kanawha river, on the lower 81de

oy
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built by Edward McDonough. He was one of the first justices and
is buried in a cemetery on the farm: the Henderson house, near the
Kanawha ferry. Thomas Lewis established ferries over both rivers
in 1791. On March 30, 1863, Point Pleasant again feltgthe shock of
battle, when the Confederate General A. G. Jenkins, with eight hun-
tlred men, marched into the town. At this time the old veteran, Major
Andrew Waggoner lost his life. He was shot by a picket, stationed on
the hill above the K. & M. depot. The old Major was over eighty
vears of age at the time of his sad death. Gen. Jenkins regretted it
very much, and had the picket placed under arrest. The General
was in conversation with Col. Charles Waggoner, at the time, not
far distant. The Major was known among his friends as the “Hero
of Craney Island.” 1In that engagement his superior officer gave or-
ders for the flag to he lowered, and a surrender flag put in its place,
thinking the day was lost to them, when Major Waggoner swore he
would shoot the first man who attempted to take it down. This so
enthused the men, that they rallied around him, and we gained the
victory; for this reason he was not court martialed.

The first church built, was a Methodist, and its doors were open to
all denominations. Through the great efforts of Mrs. John S. Lewis
and Mrs. Mary Louise Stribling, and Rev. Horace E. Hayden (its
first Rector) the beautiful Episcopal church was built. The Diocese
was then undivided, under the care of Bishop Johns. The Point
Pleasant of 1905 prides herself on the two magnificent raiiroad
bridges that span each river; the one over the Ohio, finished in 1885,
the other over the Kanawha, in 1887; her water works, giving the
finest water supply, and purest along the Ohio, opened up in 1900, and
her splendid electric plant, in 1888, her $70,000 Hotel, called the
“Spencer House,” her malleable iron works, along with two fine banks.
The oldest, the Merchant’s National, opened up in 1854, as the Mer-
chants and Mechanics. Tt has had only three Presidents in 51 years.
James Capehart, C. C. Miller and 1its present one, John MecColloch.
The other Bank, Point Pleasant National, was opened in 1901, its
President is James Capehart. Our oldest citizen is Col. S. B. Thomas,
the only link left, connecting the present with the past. John S.
Miller, also has been a citizen of Point Pleasant, for a number of
years, coming to the town in 183%.
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Dr. Jessie Bennett was the first practicing physician on the Ohio
river. His practice extended from Point Pleasant to Marietta, and
from Lewisburg to Chillicothe, on horseback. He married at Staun-
ton, the daughter of Captain Peter Hog, and settled on the land, on

5

Dr. JESSE BENNETT.

the Ohio river, about six miles above the Point, given to Captain
Hog, for his military services in the French and Indian war. 1t was
surveyed by General Washingtop. The original deed from King
George is in the possession of the Hon. C. E. Hogg, of Point Pleas-
ant. John S. Lewis owned the Andrew Lewis deed, but unfortu-
nately was lost in a fire.

Dr. Bennett was one of the jurors in the trial of Aaron Burr.

The other later physicians were Dr. Samuel Shaw, Dr. Thomas,
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Dr. Stribling, Dr. Couch, Dr. Hooff. Among the earliest lawyers
who practiced in the courts, at Point Pleasant, were Captain Cartmill,
James Wilson, still later Henry J. Fisher, James Couch, Sr.

Jayvurs WILSON.

I must not forget to mention among the noted visitors at Point
Pleasant, Henry Clay, who in going from Louisville to Washingtcn,
went by Wheeling. While the hoat was taking on supplies, at Point
Pleasant, he got off and strolled around, viewing the beautiful scen-
ery. There were but two squares built, with unpretentious buildings,
and he afterwards in alluding to the town, compared it to “a beau-
tiful woman clothed in rags.”

On the 21st of October,"1812, 103 young men from Petershurg, Va.,
enlisted for one year’s service. They passed through Point Pleasant,
on their way to the frontier. Being unable to pass over the Ohio,
on account of running ice, they were delayed two weeks, and encamped
near the town. They were in the battle of Fort Meigs, May 3,
1813. They were under the command of Captain McKae. When
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discharged, they received the highest testimonials of their gal-
lant and soldier-like conduct, from Robert Butler, Ass. Adj. Genl. at
Detroit. Quite a number were killed, and wounded, and died, so that
many came not back over the Ohio, when the order was given to
march homeward. '

Point Pleasant has two newspapers: the Weekly Register, the print-
ing plant purchased from Col. H. R. Howard and C. H. Wright, in
1862, by Mr. George W. Tippett. The State Gazette, published by
Mrs. Livia Simpson-Poffenbarger, the most energetic, and best known
business woman in the State of West Virginia.

A “curse” was supposed to have rested upon Point Pleasant for
one hundred years for the murder of Cornstalk, but Howe in his Tis-
torical Sketches, alludes to it and says:—“That the curse had been
attributed to the neglect of the early settlers in not providing a place
of worship.” Whatever may have heen the cause of the slow growth
of the town for so long a period, the curse now seems to have been
removed, and she is making rapid advancement, and is fast becoming
one of the leading cities of the State, though she was deprived of the
high honors of being “Vandalia,” the seat of government,

Her fine harbor at the mouth of the Kanawha, gives her great
prominence.

Der1a A. MeCurrocH.

THE HENDERSON FAMILY.

Among the earlier and more prominent settlers in the Great Ka-
nawha Valley, opposite Point Pleasant, were the Hendersons. They
came of a family of moderate fortune, but of gentle breeding and edu-
cation.

According to Burke, the Henderson family of Scotland first came
into notice in the fifteenth century. In 1494 James Henderson, first
knight of Fordel, was appointed Lord Advocate of Scotland ; in 1504,
he was a member of the Scotch Parliament; and in 1507 TLord Justice
Clerk-—one of the second judges of the judiciary. Sept. 9th, 1513,
he and his eldest son, John, fell in the battle of Floddenfield. From
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his younger somn, George Henderson, descended the Hendersons of
Fordel, and many of the other families of Hendersons in Scotland.

Omitting the intervening generations we will come to the spring-
ing off from the main family of the branch of interest here. Sir
John Henderson, an officer in the army of King Charles I., married
Margaret Monteith, about 1625, by whom he had five sons and five
daughters. He was succeeded by his eldest son, John. The four
younger sons married and left descendants in Fifeshire, Scotland, so
that it is almost certain that one of them was the father of “John Hen-
derson, Gent., of Fyfeshire, Scotland”, with whom begins the records
preserved by the family of Virginia Hendersons. This John Hender-
son married and had a son William, b. April 30, 1676; d. Aug. 1, 1737.
According to the old records, Feb. 7, 1705, “William Henderson,
Gent.,” married Margaret Bruce, who was born Mar. 1, 1680, and d.
Dec. 15, 1739. They had John, b. Feb. 9, 1706; d. 1766; James, b.
Jan. 17, 1708 ; d. 1784 ; Bruce, b. May 1710; d. 1719 ; Samuel, b. Nov.
28, 1713; d. 1782 ; Jean, b. 1711 ; married a Stuart, and d.-in Mar,,
1730. About 1740, John, James, and Samuel came to America and
settled in Augusta county, Virginia.

(Cor. JorN HENDERSON AND WIFE.

John Henderson married Rose Finley, sister of John Finley, one of
the first justices of Augusta county. They had a son William and
two daughters unnamed in his will. Samuel Henderson left property
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to be divided among his wife, Jane, and children—James, Andrew,
Alexander and Florence.

James Henderson, the second son of William and Margaret Bruce
Henderson, married June 23, 1738, Martha, daughter of Audley and
Blinor Hamilton. He was first an Ensign (2nd TLieutenant), and
later a lieutenant in the Augusta Militia in the French and Indian
War, for which service he received £2, 18s. in 1758. Tis sword was
preserved by the descendants of his son John till it was stolen in the
civil war.

By his will, James Henderson left two negroes and other personal
property, and mentions his land in Kentucky, one tract of a hundred
acres he had previously given his son Archibald, and other lands in
Augusta county. He had the following children: David, John,
James, William, Sarah—mar. Stuart—, Joseph, Jean—mar. Dickey—,
Samuel, Archibald and Margaret. James, the third son had large
grants of land in Greenbrier county, and during the Revolution was
Colonel of the Greenbrier Militia.

John, the second son of James Henderson, Sr., was the father of the
Mason county Hendersons. He was born cir. 1740, and died Mar. 24,
1787. In 1765 he married Anne Givens, who was born cir. 1740, and
died May 28, 1819. She was the youngest sister of Mrs. Elizabeth
Givens Lewis, wife of Gen. Andrew Lewis. About the time of his mar-
riage John Henderson bought about three hundred acres of land where
he settled on the Greenbrier river, not far from Lewisburg. In 1786,
Gov. Randolph granted him three hundred and fifty acres more on the
Greenbrier, and fourteen hundred acres of land lying south of the
mouth of the Great Kanawha river, between the grants of Gen. George
Washington and Gen. Hugh Mercer. About the same time he had
a grant of forty-five acres in Montgomery county. The parchment
granté,for these tracts of land are still preserved by his descendants
in Mason county.

After he settled on the Greenbrier, John Henderson became a mem-
ber of the militia of that section, and October 10th, 1774, fought as a
Lieutenant in the New River Company of Capt. Herbert at the fa-
mous battle of Point Pleasant. Later he was Captain of the Green-
brier Militia until Dec. 6, 1776, when he resigned and enlisted as a
Corporal in Capt. Gregory’s company in Gen. Daniel Morgan’s Vir-
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ginia Reg’t., in which he served until April, 1779. In 1780 he was
elected one of the Justices of Greenbrier county, and continued so until
his death in 1787. \

He left besides his land four negroes and £536 of personal prop-
erty to the following children: Samuel, John, Margaret, J ames, Jean,
and William. The two older sons received the Kanawha property, and
the two younger sons the Greenbrier lands. The elder daughter, Mar-
garet, b. Feb. 2, 1771 ; d. Sept. 8, 1853, married Wm. Vawter of Mon-
roe county, and has many prominent descendants in that section of
West Virginia and Virginia. Their oldest son, John Henderson
Vawter was a civil engineer and located most of the Middle Tenn.
R. R. He and four of his sons were all captains in the Confederate
army. One of them,.Capt. Charles Vawter is at present at the head
of the Miller Manual Training School in Albemarle Co., Va. Elliot
Vawter, the second son of Wm. & Margaret, was a surveyor and did
a lot of work in Mercer, Raleigh, Wyoming and McDowell counties.
During the war he was a Confederate Quartermaster. In 1872, he
was elected to the West Virginia Senate.

Jean Henderson married a Mr. Kirkpatrick, and died without heirs
in 1805. James Henderson married in 1800, Elizabeth Maddy, of
Monroe Co., and later removed to another state, where doubtless he left
descendants.  William Henderson, in an old letter written from
Cabell county in 1828, mentions his wife Nancy, daughter Betsey, and
tells of the marriage of his son, John to Elvira McComas, daughter
of Gen. E. McComas, Feb. 21, 1828.

The two older sons of John and Anne Henderson, Samuel and
John, settled on the Henderson grant at the mouth of the Kanawha in
Ilne

Samuel built his log house on the hank of the Kanawha where that
river flows into the Ohio; and in 1810 replaced it with a large two
story brick house, now owned by his grand-daughter, Mrs. Ella Hen-
derson Hutchinson. This is said to have been the second brick dwell-
ing erected in Mason county. John Henderson built his log cabin
about a quarter of a mile farther up the Kanawha, and a few years
later replaced it with a more commodious two story frame house.

Samuel Henderson, b. Sept. 7, 1766 ; d. Dec. 24, 1836, married in
1794 Sally Donnally, daughter of Col. Andrew Donnally, who built
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Donnally’s Fort in 1771, and in 1790 was one of the first representa-
tives from Kanawha county in the Virginia Assembly. Samuel and
Sally Henderson were the parents of—dJohn C., Andrew and Charles
Henderson. The two younger sons were well known lawyers, practic-
ing at the Mason County Bar from about 1825 till the time of their

SAMUEL HENDERSON Housk, 1811.

death. Neither one ever married: Some old letters and addresses
written by Charles have been preserved, showing him to have heen
particularly clever and witty. Andrew was opposed to slavery and
manumitted his three slaves in 1842. John Givens Henderson, the
elder brother, was an officer in the county militia, a volunteer in the
War of 1812, one of the early Justices of the county court, and deputy
sheriff in 1822-3. Feb. 2, 1826, he married Sallie, daughter of Capt.
John and Sallie Ogden Stephens, by whom he had three children—
Samuel, Bruce, married Lydia George; Sallie A., married Jos. George;
Mary Ella, married John L. Hutchinson.
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John, second son of Capt. John and Anne Henderson, was more
prominently connected with public affairs than any of his brothers.
From an old order in May, 1795, we see that he was a Lieutenant in
‘the Greenbrier Militia, and from old commissions, that he was Com-
missioner of Revenues for Greenbrier County in 1796 and 1797. After
his removal to the mouth of Kanawha he was one of the nine
justices who sat as the first court of Mason county, July 3, 1804. In
1809, 1810, 1813, 1814, 1817, 1818, 1819, 1820, 1822, and 1824, he
was one of the representatives from Mason county in the Virginia
Assembly. In 1814 he was Commissioner of Revenues, and Sept. 30,
1815,-commissioned High Sheriff, which office he also held in 1816.
After the organization of the county in 1804, he became one of the
officers in the militia, and during the war of 1812 was promoted to
the rank of Colonel, as shown by his old orders, still preserved. May
31, 1813, he was appointed by the Governor to take charge of the
arms and military stores at Point Pleasant to he forwarded to the
Army of the Northwest. Col. Henderson was horn Aug. 30, 1768, and
died Aug. 19, 1824. He has been described as “A quiet, courteous old
gentleman, given to much reading and thinking, and shrinking from
publicity ; even though he spent most of his life in the public service.
From old tax receipts for 1813 and 1815, we see that he owned five
hundred and fifty acres of land, twelve servants, and considerable
other personalty.

In 1792, Col. Henderson was married to Elizabeth Stodghill, daugh-
ter of John and Elizabeth Stodghill, and to them were born the follow-
ing children: Jane, Sarah, Rhoda, Angelina, Elizabeth, Nancy,
Emily, and James Madison. Jane married Charles Hoy and died
without heirs. Sarah became the second wife of John Miller, and from
them are descended the Henderson Millers, Chancellors, Vaughts,
Chas.-E. McCulloch family and others of that section of West Vir-
ginia. Rhoda married Henry Hannan and left descendants—the
Hannans of Swan creek, Ohio; and the Longs of South Side, West
Virginia. Angelina married Wm. A. MacMullin and left descend-
ants—the MacMullins, Judges, Barnes and others of Kentucky. One
son, John Henderson MacMullin was Colonel of the 51st Va. Regt.
in the Confederate army, and after the war closed served as a colonel
under Gen. Loring for five years in Egypt. Elizabeth married Rey.
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David Quinn Guthrie, and died without heirs. Nancy married Thos. J.
Bronough and left descendants in Henry county, Missouri—the Bro-
noughs and Redfords. Emily married Dr. Jos. Shallcross, of Ohio,
a descendant of the Shallcross and Cadwallader families of Philadel-
phia. Their descendants are the Shallcrosses, Newsomes, Hards and
Kerrs, of Ohio. James Madison, the only son of Col. Henderson, died
in 1828, unmarried.

References—Family records back to 1676, old family letters, com-
missions, land grants, and other papers, county records of Mason,
Greenbrier, and Augusta, Burke Barowitage, Hanna’s Scotch-Irish.

Dr. J. L. MILLER.

Ashland, Kentucky.

THE STRIBLING AND HEREFORD FAMILIES OF MERCERS
BOTTOM, MASON COUNTY, WEST VIRGINTA.

In the November issue of the Historical Magazine, a map of
Charleston was given as found among old Clendenin papers. I waited
the next number to see if the mistake would be corrected. It was not,
hence my letter. This map was among old papers of Dr. M. W. Strib-
ling (at one time a resident of your city), and a few lines in regard to
his family and his pioneer home, may prove of interest to some of
your readers.

Dr. Matthew Wright Stribling (son of Thomas Stribling and Betsy
Snickers) was born in Berryville, Clarke County, Va., in 1796. He was
a graduate of the University of Virginia, and also of Philadelphia
Medical College. In 1817 he came to Red House Shoals on Kanawha
river (where his father and brother, William, were then living, and
where they afterwards died and were buried) and commenced the
practice of medicine. In 1828, he was elected to the Virginia Legisla-
ture; that same year he married Elizabeth Page Hereford of Mercers
Bottom, and, with his bride, rode horse back to Fauquier County where
he left her with relatives and proceeded on to Richmond. Their eld-
est daughter was born in 1829 in Fauquier County. Two years later,
on his return to the Kanawha Valley, he located in Charleston, and re-
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sumed the practice of his profession. Here the oldest son was horn in
1834, while the youngest (O. F. Stribling) was born in 1836 in Point
Pleasant, whither the family had moved the previous year. “No one
ever possessed a higher sense of honor, no one ever had warmer feelings
of friendship, or was more free from vindictive feelings—no more ar-
dently affectionate son, brother or father.”

In 1845, failing in health, he and his wife traveled over to Virginia
hoping a change would be heneficial, but he steadily grew worse, died
and was buried in Fauquier County. She lived until 1872 and died
at Atchison, Kansas, where she had gone to visit her daughter. Their
children were :—

1. Mary Caroline, married, 1858, Junius Temple Hereford (horn
1830 in Charleston) and died 1872, Atchison, Kansas. Their only
child, Frederick Stribling was born in Atchison, and died at Mercers
Bottom, 1880.

2. Robert Mackey never married. He was educated at Drewen
College, Ky., and at Cincinnati Medical College. He was a surgeon
in Confederate army. After the war located at Florrissant, St. Louis
County, Missouri; died there in 1888S.

3. Otis Francis, was educated at Gallipolis, Ohio, and at Lexing-
ton Law School, Va. He is a farmer at Mercers Bottom. He married
1869, Virginia Caroline Neale (daughter of W. P. L. Neale and Cath-
erine Beale Steenberger, gr. daughter of Willam Presley Neale and
Ann M. Smith, Loudoun County, Va.—Peter H. Steenberger and
Maria Beale Jordan). Their children:

1. Mathew Weightman, b. 1871; m. 1897, Mary M. Hunter.

2. Catherine Beale, b. 1873, m. 1899, James A. Young, (son of
Norborne Young and Sarah E. Harper, Magnolia, Arkansas). He is
in insurance business with headquarters at Louisville, Ky. They have
one son, Otis Stribling, b. 1903. ‘

3. [Elizabeth, V. C., b. 1875; d. 1902.

4. William Neale, h. 1877.

Shortly after the death of her husband, Mrs. Stribling, with her
three children, moved to her father’s home, afterwards inherited as
her portion of his estate.

He (Robert Hereford) born in Loudoun Count, Virginia, 1769,
was a man of wealth, and in 1805 purchased 1000 acres of the Mercer
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grant in lower part of Mason county. He moved thither in 1807, to an
unbroken wilderness farm, save a few acres on which stood a double
house of round logs. In this he lived until 1811, when, with the aid
of his own servants trained as carpenters, masons and blacksmiths,
he built the present structure—the oldest brick house now standing in
Mason county. His wife was Mary Mason Bronough, (born 1770,
Stafford county, Virginia, daughter of Dr. John Bronough, and Ann
Carter of “Cleves”; grand daughter of Jeremiah Bronough and Sim-
pha Rosa Enfield (Mason) Dinwiddie, who was daughter of Col.
Geo. Mason of “Gunston Hall”). Their children were:

1. William Amsby, b. Loudoun county, 1791 ; m. Emily Chinn and
had, Dr. John Robert, Eliza, Mary Catherine, Andrew Chinn, Major
in C. S. A., Thomas and Emily.

2. John Bronough, b. 1794: m. Catherine M. Stirling (daughter
of Lewis Stirling and Mary Trumbull, La.), and had Dr. Robert
Francis, Sarah Trumbull, Lewis Sterling, Ann M., John Bronough,
James Stirling, Catherine M., and Isabella Semple.

3. Robert Ammon, h. 1796 ; m. Virginia Lewis (daughter of Howell
Lewis and Ellen Hackley Pollard), and had: Robert Lewis, Brooke
Gwathmey, Frances, Kate Bronough, Bettie Washington and Lawrence
Berry.

4. Ann Maria, b. 1798; m. John Beale (son of John Beale and
Margaret Skillern—grand son of Taverner Beale and Elizabeth Hite),
and had: Dr. John, Mary Margaret, Julia, George Robert, who was
Major in Mexican War, and afterwards Judge in Louisiana. Charles,
William and Thomas.

5. Elizabeth Page, b. 1800; m. Dr. M. W. Stribling as above.

6. Thomas Ammon, b. 1802 ; m. Mary Cumberland Wilson, daugh-
ter of James Wilson and Mary Prentice—grand daughter of Cumber-
land Wilson and Janet Allan of Glasgow, Scotland) and had: Dr.
James Wilson, Robert Prentice and Junius Temple.

7. Margaret Mason, b. 1805; m. Alonzo Cushing, b. Fredonia, N.
Py

8. Mary Ann, b. Mason Co., 1807 ; m. Capt. —— Cain, Miss. No
issue.

9. Katherine Ellen, b. 1810; m. Dr. Daniel Couch (son of Daniel
Couch and Sarah Richardson) and had: Mary, Edward, and Mar-
garet.
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10. Francis Marion, b. 1814; m. Harriet Fort, La., and had:
Mary, Happie, Adele, Alice, Frank, Jennie and William.

The old house of nearly a century past (though some changes have
been necessary) is unique in one partieular—it has been lived in by six
generations and is still unfinished—walls not plastered and rough and
pioneer like in many ways. The rooms were ceiled with walnut plank,
and in one, never white washed, shows plainly bare foot prints of many
sizes. While the lumber was piled up in the yard, it must have been
played over by children whose feet were wet with dew and stain of
weeds. Mrs. Hereford’s mother (Mrs. Bronaugh), in the latter years
of her life, would stay six months with this daughter, and there made
comfortable, in a pirogue, with feather bed, pillows and quilts, would
be rowed by servants up the Ohio and Kanawha rivers to Buffalo,
where her son William was living. This was repeated each year until
her death. Thus she (Mrs. Bronough) Mrs. Hereford, Mrs. Stribling,
0. F. Stribling, Mrs. Kate Young and her little son, Otis, make the six
generations who have lived in this house. In the yard is an old-
fashioned white-rose bush, set out in 1810—some of the largest locust
trees in all the country around——a beautiful walnut tree planted by
one of the daughters in 1818. In the house are many relics—a tall
hall clock, and solid mahogany tables from England—a cherry bed-
stead with high posts beautifully carved in pine apple design—a wine
buffet, etc., from Scotland.

The garret was a store house of papers, not only of the family, but
of those connected by ties of of intermarriages. Some were destroyed
by the mice—still many of interest remain—among the family papers,
an Almanac of 1764 ; The Gentleman’s Annual Pocket Remembrances
for the year 1803; Continental money (Four dollars) and (Rs. 8 p.,
ete., ete.

Mr. Robert Hereford was a man of piety—true and sincere in his
convictions of right and duty—a member of the Methodist church, but
not bigoted. On one occasion, when present at a communion service
in a Baptist church, he advanced to the table, but was met by the
preacher with: “Hold on, brother Hereford, this is our table.” M.
Hereford stepped back, replying, “I heg pardon, I thought it was the
Lord’s.”

Feeling the need of a house of worship in this frontier wilderness,
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he built a church on his farm, and, in the church yard surrounding it,
he, his wife, Virginia Lewis Hereford and other members of his
family are buried. Not a vestige of building remains—only a grove
of trees and a few tomb-stones.

He was a son of John Hereford of Fairfax County, Virgina, who
had bought property in Lewisburg as far back as 1759. Will dated
1783 ; probated 1794. The family were originally from Hertfordshire,
Eng. His wife was Peggy ———— and their children were John,
William, James, Thomas, Francis, Robert, Ann, Peggy, Kitty and
Elizabeth. Two of these sons, John and James, were attending school
in Alexandria, Virginia, when the War of the Revolution hegan. They
ran off and joined the army, but their father followed and brought
them back, as too youthful for service. They remained in school but
two or three months, when they left again. The father visited them
again, but not to withdraw them from the army—his parting advice
was: “never to turn their backs on a red coat.” John died in Mason
county, 1846, aged 88 yrs., 3 mos., 11 days. He married Betty Patter-
son, related to the Bonapart—Patterson family; married 2nd, Sarah
Mauzey, of Alexandria, Va. They moved to this county after his
brother Robert came west, and lived on an adjoining farm. She died,
1855, aged 73 yrs., 11 mos., 1 day. Both are buried not far distant
on an isolated noll in the low grounds of the Ohio Sixteen Creek—
their graves neglected. A relative, who knew him well, says it was his
request the following couplet should mark his grave:

“Stranger, pause and shed a tear,
A Revolutionary soldier is buried here.”

It is thought such was done on a sandstone which crumbling by
time, was replaced by a descendant with the present white marble on
which is inscribed :

He served in War of 1776.
As Adjutant under Gen. Geo. Washington.

One of the delights of his declining years, was to muster with the
militia at Point Pleasant—he and Major Waggoner riding ahead. He
has numerous descendants in this county—also west and south—peo-
ple of strong minds and presonalities.

E1LEN S. NEALE.

Mercers Bottom, W. Va.
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(/0L. JOHN STUART OF GREENBRIER.

BY MARGARET LYNN PRICE.

The father of Col. John Stuart, was Col. David Stuart, and he was a
man of great prominence in Colonial days.

Clol. David married Mrs. Paul, the widow of John Paul, who was
a son of Hugh, Bishop of Nottingham. John Paul was a partisan of
the House of Stuarts and perished in the siege of Dalrymple Castle
in 1745, leaving five children. The eldest became a Roman Catholic
priest and died on the eastern shore of Maryland. Audley Paul, an-
other son, was for ten years an officer in the British Colonial forces

|
.

e W e

Cor. Joux STuarRT'S HoME IN GREENBRIER CoUNTY, 1789.

in Virginia. Polly married Governor Mathews of Georgia. Mrs.
Taylor, the youngest, died leaving no children. Mrs. Paul, the widow,
was the daughter of Sabina Lynn, sister of Margaret Lynn, who was
the wife of Col. John Lewis, the founder of Augusta county, Va. Mrs.
Paul was named Margaret Lynn for her aunt, Mrs. Lewis.
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David Stuart was the County Lieutenant, with the rank of Colonel,
of Augusta county in 1755, when Augusta extended from the Blue
Ridge to the Mississippi river, if not farther, and also included Fort
Pitt at what is now Pittshurg. See Dinwiddie Papers, Vol. 2, p. 100,
Virginia Historical papers and note by R. A. Brock. Also letters to
Col. David Stuart, dated Aug. 11, 1755, &e., pages 152, 220, 246, 288,
296.

February, 1756, Col. David Stuart, with rank of Capt., accompanied
the Sandy creek expedition against Indian towns, west of the Ohio riv-
er, see note, page 100 of 2nd Vol. Dinwiddie papers. In 17 56, he was in
the Council of war held under Dinwiddie’s proclamation, and was
one of the Board of Trustees named in the charter of Staunton, Va.,
Nov., 1761,—(Hening’s Statutes.) He was drowned in Middle river
(a branch of the Shenandoah) March, 1767. THis will was probated
in Staunton, April 12, 176%,in which he makes provision for his wife,
Margaret, for his son, John (Col. John Stuart of Greenbrier Co.,
afterwards), his daughter, Sabina, (who married Capt. Williams) and
Elizabeth (who married Col. Richard Woods), as well as his step-
daughter, Polly, (who married Gov. George Matthews, of Va.)

John, son of David and Margaret Stuart, was born in 1749, and first
came to Greenbrier in 1769, with his cousin, General Andrew Lewis,
who had been in this country with his father, Col. John Lewis, in 1751.
It was on this occasion, that Col. Lewis became entangled in a running
vine, his son Andrew called the river Green-briar, on account of the
quality of those long green running briars on the river. The county was
named from the river. While John Stuart, in 1769, was pursued by
some Indians and he made his escape into a cave, and as he entered
he was met by a bear and her two cubs; he soon killed the mother hear.

He afterwards settled near this place and built a mill in the said
cave, but on account of its dampness was compelled to abandon the
same. “ There are still some of the timbers in a very good state of pres-
ervation. He built his first home here and called it “Grumble Thorp.”

In a short time he removed to a lower part of the county, four miles
from Lewisburg, where he built a house of hewn logs, two stories
and a half high, using wrought nails from England. When General
Andrew Lewis rested his army in Fort Union, afterwards called Lew-
isburg, (for Gen. Lewis) on his way to Pt. Pleasant in 1774, two
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companies went with him from Greenbrier, commanded by Col. John
Stuart and Capt. Robt. McClanahan. At the battle of Point Pleasant
Capt. Stuart’s Company was one of three sent by Gen. Lewis up
Crooked creek to flank Cornstalk’s position. This movement was exe-
cuted so dextrously that the Indians were taken completely by surprise,
and put to rout.

The Battle of Point Pleasant has been by historians of no mean re-
pute, held to he the commencement of the Revolution. Col. Stuart was
in many engagements with the Indians, the last being in 1778, when a

First CLERK’S OFFICE, GREENBRIER COUNTY.

party of Indians came from beyond the Ohio and surprised and sur-
rounded a party of settlers at Fort Donnally. This fort was about
eight miles north of Fort Union (Lewisburg). Col. Stuart was at
Fort Union at the time and when the news came, he organized a force
and went to the relief of Fort Donnally. The Indians were defeated
and this was the last attack made by them upon the Greenbrier settle-
ment. The records of the County Court of Greenbrier, show that on
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the 25th day of November, 1780, Col. John Stuart was appointed
clerk of said court. He was indeed a model clerk. He wrote a most
excellent hand, plain, clear, distinet and after a hundred years is as
legible as if written a dozen years ago. At the close of the first deed
book of the county, he wrote a history of the settlement of Greenbrier
county, which can be pointed to as not only an example of neatness in
writing, but also of literary culture and taste. In his account of the
early settlement of Greenbrier county, Colonel Stuart, in speaking of
the first wagon road opened from Lewishurg to the Kanawha in 1786,
makes this statement, “And there was a communication by wagon
to the navigable waters of the Kanawha, and which will probably he
found the nighest and best conveyance from the eastern to the western
country that will ever be known.” When one contemplates the distance
and grades over the Chesapeake & Ohio railroad, the foresight and
judgment of Col. Stuart stand boldly out.

Col. Stuart married on the 18th day of November, 1776, Mrs.
Agatha Frogg (widow of Capt. William Frogg.) She was the daugh-
ter of Thomas Lewis (owing to near sightedness could not be in the
army, but served for years in the House of Burgesses) and who was a
son of Col. John Lewis and a brother of Gen’l Andrew and Col. Chas.
Lewis. Col Stuart had four children, Margaret, married Col. Andrew
Lewis (son of Col. Charles Lewis); Jane, married Robert Crocket;
Charles A., married Elizabeth Robinson; and Lewis married Sarah
Lewis (second daughter of Col. Charles Lewis.

Col. Stuart was very successful in busness, and amassed a large
fortune, both real and personal. He was an excellent judge of land.
He secured at that early day, large bodies of as fine land as there is in
the county of Greenbrier. He gave to his sons-in-law money, as they
preferred, and left his land to his sons. When he first came to Green-
brier he settled near where the town of Frankford (called then Frank’s
Ford) now stands, but afterwards moved to Fort Spring (in front of
the old Fort) four miles from Lewishurg, where he had an estate of
four thousand acres. On this estate he built, in 1789, that large stone
house which is still in a good state of preservation and is occupied and
owned by his great grand son, David Lewis Price. In this old man-
sion he hospitably entertained, and was visited here by the French
Philosopher Volney, who brought a letter of introduction from Gen.
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Washington. Volney was so impressed with the serene grandure of the
scenery, inscribed his name upon the older walls of the mansion and
left a grateful tribute to its beauty and the hogpitality of its members,
in his history of his travels. (The letter is owned by his great grand
son).

Here was the resort of the intelligent, the polished and the distin-
guished from all parts of the State, and here too, was dispensed with
a liberal hand, the most generous benefactions to the poor, the for-
lorn and the distressed.

o

Orp CHURCH AT LEWISBURG.

In 1788 Col. Stuart was a member of the Virginia Constitutional
Convention. History of Virginia Conventions by J. N. Brennowmer.

In the year 1793, he was appointed Lieut. Colonel of the seventy-
ninth regiment of militia. This commission was signed by Gov. Henry
Lee of Virginia, and is now in the possession of Col. Stuart’s great
grand daughter (Margaret L. Price) of Lewisburg. In 1776, one
hundred and fifty pounds was supplemented by his wife with five hun-
dred pounds, to build the old stone church. Tt cost so much because
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the stones were picked up to fit each place (they did not have ma-
chinery at that time to cut the stone.) The cement still in the walls,
is so hard there is great curiosity as to how it was made. The
inscription cut in stone and now over the front entrance to the church -
was put there by Col. Stuart and is as follows:
This Building
was erected in the year 1796 at the expense of a few
of the first inhabitants of the land,
to commemorate their affection and esteem
for the Holy Gospel of Jesus Christ.
Reader,
If you are inclined to applaud their virtues
give God the Glory.”

The first permanent Presbyterian church was organized by Rev.
John M. Case, two in &reenbrier and and one in Monroe, in 1773,
called the “three corner stones” of Presbyterianism in this region.
(Dr. McElhenny’s Recollections). The first churches were built of
unhewn logs covered with clap boards, and the floors with hewn tim-
ber. As they did not have any place for fire, when it was cold,.large
log fires were made in front of the houses. These houses were amongst
the first if they were not the very first, that were built in this whole
western region for Divine worship. When Rev. John McCue returned
to Augusta County, Rev. Benjamin Grigsby succeeded him and during
his pastorate the old stone church was built. When Dr. John McEl-
henny began to preach, his boundary extended from Lexington to the
Ohio river. In 1808 he accepted the call to Lewisburg. The old
stone church then was the only Presbyterian church in this county.
For sixty three years he preached in this church and when he passed
away he had the respect and love of three generations. His leader of
the choir served for fifty-seven years. Mr. James Withrow and old
Uncle John Bowyer was sexten for thirty years. This old servant
could tell you every grave, not excepting the first. Omne of the first,
if not the very first Sabbath schools organized in Virginia, was in
Lewisburg (Semi-Centenary sermon of Dr. McElhenny, 1868.

Col. Stuart belonged to several Literary Societies. In 1797, he was
elected a member of “The American Philosophical Society” held in
Philadelphia and the eertificate thereof, signed by Thomas Jefferson,
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President, is also in possession of great grand daughter. This cer-
tificate is evidence of the esteem in which his literary attainments were
held. He was a very intelligent man and had a library of valuable
books. On the 22nd day of September, 1807, he tendered to the
county court his resignation as county clerk, and his son Lewis was
appointed in his place. The first clerk’s office stood in his yard, and
was built by him for the benefit of the county, and is still standing,

First CourT HOUSE IN (GREENBRIER.

although built before the stone house. In 1800 he presented the
county with a lot in the town of Lewisburg, upon which the Court
House was erected. It was a three story building and was in perfect
condition when it was burned. Aug. 3, 1897. Four important courts
were held in this house in addition to the county court.

Court of Appeals, Circuit Court, United States District Court, and
a Circuit Court of the United States in August of every year. One of
the Judges of the United States Supreme Court sat in this and had
the District Judge as an associate. The stone court house did not have
any of the modern conveniences, and so a new one was built in 1840,
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and the stone court house reverted to his son, Lewises heirs.

On the 23rd of August, 1823, in the seventy fifth year of his age,
he departed this life, and was laid to rest in the old family burying
ground where rest the fifth generation. :

“On a flat marble slab ’neath a tangle of wild flowers and vines,
one may read the following inscription to a grand child of Col. Stu-
art:

“Here lies the body
of
Elizabeth Stuart,
Who died on the ninth day of Aug., 1819,
Aged eleven years.
Beauty adorned her face, symmetry her form, piety to God, duty to
parents, friendship for relations.
Sympathy for the distressed
Characterized her mind.
She has gone from' this world, it is believed, to rest with the spirits
‘ of the just made perfect in the presence of their God.

Thisstone is humbly inscribed by her grand father, John Stuart,
To thg.;ﬁrstﬁ-of his deceased offspring to commemorate the innocence

and virtues of this deceased child, who was the daughter of

Lewis and Sarah Stuart.””

The late Honorable Hugh Blair Grigsby said this epitaph was the
most elegant and touching one ever written.”

The following lines were written by Col. John Stuart, on the post
of the porch of the old Stuart mansion, from which a fair view of
Peter’s mountain in Monroe county can be obtained. Not many of
the present generation, we dare say, know for whom Peter’s moun-
tain was named—these lines furnish the information. They were
copied years ago by one of his daughters and the copy was recently
resurrected from old papers:

“Dear Pete, from here I often view

Yon towering mound that’s called for you.
The charming prospect I have seen
Changing by times from blue to green.

* The azure that we now behold,

In Autumn, will be turned to gold,
In winter time it’s spotless white

x
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Like Jenny dressed on wedding night.
In grief it sometimes rolls it’s head
And weeps for you, that’s long been dead.
Then must I, too, resign this sight
And be forgot like Peter Wright?
For me no mount shall ever weep,
No hill, nor dale, shall tell,
‘When in nature’s sullen sleep
The first that here did dwell.

My youthful sports are gone and past,
And hoary age is come at last,

With transporting hopes to endless day
I soon will wing the shining way,

Then shall my cheerful “spirit sing
. The darksome hours away,
And rise on Faith’s expanded wings
To everlasting day.

“Review these numerous scenes! at once 'survey
Nature’s extended face! then skeptic, say,

In this wild field of wonders can you find

No art discovered, and no end designed.”

MEMORANDUM—1798, JULY 15TH.

BY JOHN STUART.

The inhabitants of every country and place are desirous to enquire
after the first founders, and in order to gratify the curious or such
who may hereafter incline to be informed of the origin of the settle-
ments made in Greenbrier. I leave this memorandum for their satis-
faction being the only person at this time alive acquainted with the
circumstances of its discovery and manner of settling. Born in Au-
gusta county and the perticulars of this place often related to me from
my childhood by the first adventurers I can relate with certainty
that our river was first discovered about the year 1749 by the white
people—some say Jacob Marlin was the first person who discovered it ;
others that a man of an unsound mind, whos name I don’t now re-
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member, had wandered from Frederick:county through the moun-
tains and on his return reported “he had seen a river runing westward,
supposed to be Greenbrier river. However, Jacob Marlin and Stephen
Suiel were the first settlers at the mouth of Knaps creek above what is
now called the little levels on the land still bearing the name of Mar-
lins. These two men lived there in a kind of hermitage, having no
famalys, but frequently differing in sentiment which ended in rage.
Marlin kept possession of the cabin whilst Suiel took up his aboad in
the trunk of a large tree at a small distance, and thus living more
independant, their animosiys would abate and socitillity ensued. Not
long after they had made their settlement on the river, the country
was explored by the late General Andrew Lewis at that time a noted
and famous woodsman, on whos report an order of council was ob-
tained granting one hundred thousand acres of lands on Greenbrier to
the Honbl. John Robinson (Treasurer of Virginia) & Co. to the num-
ber of twelve, including old Colo. John Lewis and his two sons,
William and Charles, with condition of settleing the land with inhab-
itants, certain emolumnts of three pounds per hundred acres to them-
selves. But the war breaking out between England and France in the
vear 1755, and the Indians being excited by the French to make war
on the back inhabitants of Virginia, all who were then settled on
Greenbrier were obliged to retreat to the older settlements for safety,
amongst whom was Jacob Marlin, but Suiel fell a sacrifice to the en-
emy: This war ended in 7762, and then some people returned and set-
tled in Greenbrier again, amongst whom was Archibald Clendenin,
whos residence was on the lands now claimed by John Davis by virtue
of an intermarrige with his daughter and liying two miles west of
Lewisburg. :
“The Indians breaking out again in 1763, came up the Kenawha
in a large body, to the number of sixty and coming to the house of
Frederick Sea, on Muddy creek, were kindly entertained by him
and Felty Yolkcum, not suspecting their hostile design were suddenly
killed and their famileys, with many others, made prisoners; then
proceeding over the mountain they came to Archibald Clendenin,
who like Sea and Yolkcum, entertained them wntill they put him to
death; his family with a number of others living with him being all
made prisoners or killed, not any one escaping except Conrad Yolk-
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com, who doubting the design of the Indians when the came to Clen-
denin, took his horse out under the pretence of hobbling him at some
distance from the house. Soon after some guns were fired at the horse
and a loud cry raised by the people, whereupon Yolkcum taking the
alarm, mounted his horse and rode off as far as where the Court House
now stands, and then beginning to ruminate whether he might not be
mistaken in his apprehensions, concluded to return and know the truth,
but just as he came to the corner of Clendenen’s fence some Indians
placed there presented their guns and attempted to shoot him, but
their guns all missed fire (he thinks at least ten) he immediately fled
to Jackson’s river, alarming the people as he went, but few were
willing to believe him ; the Indians pursued after him and all that fell
in their way were slain until they went on Carr’s creek, now in Rock-
bridge county. So much people were them days intimidated by an
attack of the Indians that they were suffered to retreat with all their
booty and more prisoners than there was Indians in their party. I
will here relate a narative of Archbl. Clendenen’s wife, being a pris-
oner with her young child as they were passing over Keeney’s nob
from Muddy creek, a part of the Indians being in front with the re-
mainder behind and the prisoners in the center, Mrs. Clendenen hands
her child to another woman to carry and she slipel to one side and
hid herself in a bush, but the Indians soon missing her one of them
observed he would soon bring the cow to her calf and taking the child,
caused it to ery very loud, but the mother not appearing, he took the
infant and beat out its brains against a tree, then throwing it down in
the road, all the people and horses that were in the rear passed over
it untill it was trod to pieces. Many more cruelties were commited,
two horid to be related, and too many to be contained in this memo-
randum. Thus was Greenbrier once more depopulated for six years,
but a peace being concluded with Indians in 1765, and the lands on the
western waters with certain bounderys being purchased at-a treaty at
Fort Stanioiz by Andw. Lewis and Thomas Walker, commissioners
appointed by Government, the people again returned to settle in Green-
brier in 1769, and I myself was amongst the first of those last ad-
venturers, bheing at that time about nineteen years of age, with W.
Robert McClenachan another very young man, our design was to se-
cure lands and encourrage a settlement in the county, but the Indians
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breaking out again in 1774, Colo. Andrew Lewis was ordered by the
Earl of Dunmore (then Governor of Vrginia) to march against them
with fifteen hundred volunteer militia, which army marched from
Camp Union, now Lewisburg) the 11th day of Septmr., 1774, two
companys of the said army being raised in Greenbrier and commanded
by Capt. Robt. McClenachan and myself, we were met by the In-
dians on the 10th day of October at the mouth of the Kenawha and a
very obstinate engagement ensued, the Indians were defeated, tho
with the loss of seventy-five officers and soldiers, amongst the
slain was Colo. Chas. Lewis who commanded the Augusta militia and
my friend Capt. Robt. McClenachan. Colo. Andw. Lewis pursued
his vietory crossing the Ohio untill we were in sight of some Indian
towns on the waters of Siofa, where we were met by the Earl of
Dunmore who commanded an army in person and had made his rout
by the way of Fort Pitt, the Governor capitulating with the Indians
Colo. Lewis was ordered to retreat and the next year hostilities com-
menced between the British and Americans at Boston in New England
* and I have since been informed by Colo. Lewis that the Earl of Dun-
more (the King’s Governor) knew of the attack to be made upon
us by the Indians at the mouth of Kenawha, and hoped our distruc-
tion ; this sacret was communicated to him by indisputable authority.

Independence heing declared by America the 4th July, 1776, and
the people assuming the ranes of government, a county was granted to
the people of Greenbrier under the commonwealth, in May, 1778, and
a court was first held at my house on the 3 Tuesday in said month,
not long after which we were invaded again by the Indians who had
taken part with the British and on the 28th day of the same month
Colo. Andrew Donnally’s house was attacked ahout eight miles from
Lewisburg by two hundred Indians; these Indians were pursued from
the mouth of the Kenawha by two scouts from that garrison to wit,
Phil. Hammon and John Prior, and passing the Indians at the Mead-
ows gave inteligence to Colo. Donnallys of their approach who in-
stantly collected about twenty men and the next morning sustained the
attack of the enemy until he was relieved about two o’clock by sixty
men from Lewisburg. T was one of the number and we got into the
house, unhurt, heing favored by a field of rye which grew close up to
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the house, the Indians being all on the oposite side. Four men were
killed before we got in, and about sixten Indians lay dead in the yard
before the door, some of these were taken off in the night but we scalped
nine the next morning; this was the last time the Indians invaded
Greenbrier in any large party. X

Peace with the British followed in 1781, and then the people of this
county began to make some feeble efforts to regulate their society,
and to open roads and passes for wagons through the mountains, which
by many had heen thought impracticable no waggon at that time
having ever approached nearer than the Warm Springs—one peti-
tion the assembly granted, a law impowering the court to levy a
certain annual sum in commutables from the inhabitans, for the pur-
pose of opening a road from the court house to the Warm Springs. A
convenancy so necessary for the importation of salt and other neces-
sarys of lumber as well as conveying our hemp and other heavy ware
to market, would readily be expected to receive the approbation of
every one, but such is the perverse disposition of some men, unwilling
that any should share advantages in preference to themselves that this -
laudable measure was oposed by Mr. William Hutchingon, who had
first represented the county in general assembly—on this occasion
without the privvity of the people, went at his own expence to Rich-
mond and by his insinuations to some of the members with unfair
representations obtained a suspention of the law for two years, but
the following year Colo. Thom’s. Adams, who visited this county, satis-
fied with the impropriety of Hutchinson’s representations had the sus-
pention repealed and full powers were allowed to the court to levy
money for the purpose aforesaid, and by this means a waggon road was
opened from the Court House to the Warm Springs, which made way
for the same to the Sweet Springs. The paper money issued for men-
taining our war against the British, became totally depreciated, and
there was not a sufficient quantity of specie in circulation to enable
the people to pay the revenue tax assessed upon the citizens of this coun-
ty, wherefore we fell in arrears to the public for four years. But the as-
sembly again taking our remote situation under consideration gresiously
granted the sum of £5000 of our said arrears to be applied to the pur-
pose of opening a road from Lewisburg to Kenawha river. The people
greatful for such indulgance willingly embraced the opportunity of
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such an offer and every person liable for arvears of tax agreed to
perform labour equivalent on the road, and the people being formed
into districts with each a superintendent the road was completed in-the
space of two months in the year 1786, and thus was a communication
by waggons to the navigable waters of the Kenawha first effected and
which will probably be found the nighest and best conveyance from the
eastern to the western country that will ever be knowen—may I here
hazerd a conjecture that has often occurred to me since 1 inhabited
this place, that nature has designed this part of the world a peaceable
retreat for some of her favorite children, where pure morals will be
preserved by seeparating them from other societys at so respectful a
distance by ridges of mountains: and I sincerely wish time may prove
my conjecture rational and true.

From the springs of salt water discovered along our river, banks of
iron oar, mines pragnant with salt petre, and forrests of sugar trees
so amply provided and so easely acquired T have no doubt but the
future inhabitants of this county will surely avail themselves of such
singular advantages greatly to their comfort and satisfaction and ren-
der them a greatful and happy people.

It will be remembered that Lewisburg was first settled by Capt.
Mathew Arbuckle after the town was laid off in the year 1780, and
took its name in honor of the familys of the Lewis’s in consequence of
their holding a large claim in the Greenbrier grant. Capt. Arbuckle
was killed the following year in a storm of wind by the falling of a
tree. on the branch leading from the turn of the waters of Anthonys
creek to Jackson’s river; he was distinguished for his bravery, es-
pecially in the battle with the Indians at Point Pleasant.

SKETCH OF FINCASTLE AND WHY SO NAMED, IN REPLY
TO THE MAN FROM PASSADENA, CALIFORNTA.

- FINCASTLE.

Tn a recent number of this Historical Magazine a gentleman from
Passadena, Cal., furnishes a subject for discussion, and I sail into ib
with all the facts I possess.
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Where Fincastle now stands— a lovely little town of the old-fash-
ioned—stone-paved type, where carriages used to bowl along with
crests upon them and aristocratic ladies used to have carpets spread
for their dainty feet,—was once the frontier post called “Monroe !”

It was probably first Botetourt Court House !

It was even before that simply “At Mrs. Breckinridge’s”—as Colonel
Preston dates a letter from it under' that name!

In a part of the old house (in which T was born—almost a hundred
years later)—Colonel William Preston sat and wrote a letter, recently
published in the Magazine, and dated it “At Mrs. Breckinridge’s.”
Later he refers to the settlement as “Botetourt Court House.”

In some old papers I have found it called “Christian’s Wolf Hills.”

When Monroe was Governor of Virginia—about 1783—it was
called “Monroe.”

But you will find it still referred to as “Monroe” as late as 1810,
in the Acts of Assembly when a Charter for a water company was
granted to the town of Munroe, in the County of Botetourt, (See
Hening’s “Collections of Acts,” chap. 42.

This is also referred to as “The President and Managers of the
Fincastle Water Company.”

Also the two names are given to the place in various legal papers
concerning Fincastle Academy and glebe-lands, ete.

There was an Act to open a road from “Munroe” in Botetourt
County to Sweet Springs in “Munroe County”. These points were
only a day’s ride apart.

After Munroe County was taken off of Botetourt, it was decided to
change the name of the village in Botetourt to Fincastle—which T
am led to understand was so named in honor of the seat of Lord Nor-
hourn de Botetourt, and had no reference to Lord Dunmore—or Count
Fincastle—a name I never heard him called before.

As to Patrick Henry’s wiping the name off the maps, T never heard
of before—hut I do know that Fincastle County was changed—it be-
ing a strip of land in South Western Virginia reaching out to the
Ohio river.

Wheeling was at one time called “Fort Fincastle,” and that was also
probably named for Baron de Botetourt—as Botetourt and West Au-
gusta embraced all the frontier then—and Botetourt was a popular
Governor.
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Colonel William Preston called his house seat “Fincastle,” and it
set about where the Polytechnique Institute is—at Blacksburg,—and
he dated several letters from his home there—when the village of Fin-
castle was called “Bot. Court House.” 1774-1775. .

But I think these letters were s1mp1y dated as in the 5‘@
“Fincastle I

But the name has not been Wlped off the Map. TItisa Sm?u‘
town of the old-fashioned, aristocratic, God-fearing and Go
ing kind, and was first named “Christian’s Wolf Hills” becau
Christian patented the land there. Then it was Botetourt C
House—after Bot. was taken from Augusta. Then it was Munn
and later it was settled as Botetourt. County seat should be
for Norbourn de Botetourt’s home in England.

Hon. William A. Glassgow, writing some years ago in the ¢
press, said that at the first-Court of Botetourt, held in 1770, th
shipful justices recorded their desire to name the settlement for N
borne Berkley de Botetourt, by giving it the name of his childh
home—in old England, and calling it Fincastle. But he furth
that John Bowyer dissented to this. At any rate, it was
and proposed at that early day—if it was not adopted perm
until many years later.

I never heard of Patrick Henry’s spite at Dunmore, and in th
of his victory over the deposed and disgraced John, I am
think the bewigged gentlemen burgesses had something more se
to adjust after the Revolution than wiping musical names of

maps of Virginia, and as a matter of fact—they did not bother ‘B
castle /” , o

Old Patrick himself was there once—investigating a murde
—and that was in the days of horse-back travel—only pac
trains ever reached these inner recesses of the valley; but in
years—for all Fincastle does not afford any rail-road—few p
live out a life-time without seemg Fincastle!

EvA GRANT MAD
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THE PRICES OF GREENBRIER.

BRY E. G. MALONEY.

Samuel Price patented land in Greenbrier, as follows:

1786—340 acres on Bear Creek.

1786—580 acres on Meadow river. (Price and McClung in part-
nership.)

1804—615 acres on Great Sewel.

This first Samuel Price visited Greenbrier with the sons of Andrew
Lewis, and the McClung boys and the Renick boys after the Revolu-

'~ tion—about 1784 or ’85. These boys were hunting and prospecting,

and had some adventures with the Indians.
One adventure in the region of Hawk’s Nest is said to have been a

' chase by Indians, in which Samuel Price escaped on a belled horse—

by holding the clapper silent—but whether on lis own horse or one
caught up from its pasture I do not know. The story is hazy—com-
ing from Samuel Price’s grand-daughter. :

After this visit, Samuel Price returned to what was then said to
be his home—in Augusta County, Virginia.

About 1786 he moved to Greenbrier and settled with his wife and
lived in the “Levels”—now Sawannah. Several times after moving
to Greenbrier, his family traveled back to Augusta—being frightened
by stories of Indian raids.

In the old records at Lewisburg Clerk’s office, the County Court
proceedings are mentioned and it is shown that “Sam wel Price Gen-
tleman” was one of the Judge’s of the Commissioner’s Courts as
early as 1793.

He manumitted a large number of his slaves and bought land for
them in Ohio. .

Some of the slaves he kept for house servants after freeing most
of those he owned, (these were half-breeds, sons of one black woman

_house-servant, named Hannah, and her slave half-breed husband,

Ben,) tried to murder their master when he was old and blind—so
these were sold, and many years later some of Samuel Price’s de-
scendants talked about trying to recover and re-enslave the blacks
who had been sent to Ohio. This was, of course, never attempted in
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serious earnest—bhecause only a few of the poorer and dissatisfied ones
desired it.

Samuel Price became ‘wealthy from his cattle growing, and lived
until 1840. He was blind for many years before death. He was twice
married. It is said that he married cousins, both of whom were
named Margaret Black.

Samuel Price told his descendants that he had formerly lived in
Maryland, and had moved from Maryland to Augusta County, and
thence to Greenbrier.

Samuel Price and Margaret, his wife, had children as follows:

Samuel—who went West from Greenbrier.

William—who went to Missouri from Greenbrier.

Jacob—who married his cousin, of some degree, and moved to Bote-
tourt County, Virginia, from Greenbrier. Married “Sophia M. Price”
1st.

James—who died in Greenbrier.

Sarah—who married Michael Bright, of Greenbrier.

Nancy—who married Thomas Beard, of Greenbrier.

Elizabeth—who married Jacob Walkup.

Samuel Price married ‘a second wife, whose name was given as
“Margaret Black—of Augusta.” Children by second marriage are
as follows:

John— who remained in Greenbrier, and whose son, Washington
Price, still lives on part of his original land.

Mary—who married Archibald MeClintock.

Margaret—born in 1825, who married James Erwin, and whose
daughter, Mary Ann Libby Erwin, married David S. Haptonstall,
lived in Greenbrier.

LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR SAMUEL PRICE.

There was also later another Price family in Greenbrier, and one
of whom was Governor Samuel Price, who was the son of Samuel
Price, who came from Fauquier county, Virginia, and settled in
Preston county in 1815. '
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Samuel Price, Jr., was born in Fauquier, July 28, 1805; edu-
cated in the common schools of his day, and went to Kentucky in 1821,
and taught school and read law with Judge Thompson ; he afterwards
went to Nicholas county, Virginia; and he also lived in Wheeling,
and settled in Greenbrier in 1838. His wife was Jane Stuart; married
February 6, 1837, and their children were nine in number, one of
whom is Miss Margaret Lynn Price.

He was a Whig until after the war, when he acted with the Demo-
crats. He was admitted to the Bar in 1832, and was Clerk of Nich-
olas county in 1831. He was Prosecuting Attorney in 1833 ; and was
in the Legislature in 1834, 1835, and in 1836. In 1837 he repre-
sented Braxton county; in 1841 he represented Greenbrier, until
1852. 1In 1850-51 he was in the Virginia Convention; as also in
1860-61. 1In 1863 he was elected Lieutenant Governor of Virginia.
In 1865 he was elected Judge, but declined the office. He presided
over the Convention of 1872 in West Virginia, and was United States
Senator after the death of A. T. Caperton in 1876. He died at his
home in Lewisburg, February 25, 1884. He was a Ruling Elder in
the Presbyterian Church. He was strong mentally and physieally,
and one of the most prominent lawyers of his State.

MRS. EVA GRANT MOLONEY.

Her maternal grand-father was from Greenbrier, and she was born
in Botetourt, and her maiden name was Eva S. Grant—and soon
after her marriage she moVed into West Virginia and most of her
immediate family reside in this State.

She is known as a voluminous writer of History and Fiction, and
most of her stories are laid in the mountains of West Virginia.

“Gilliad Moons Speculation” and “Ejecting Margaret” are only .
stories; the scenes were laid in Kanawha and the treatment close to
nature and local coloring.

“How Margaret Danced With the Shawneese” was a family tradi-
tion and the Indians were of Cornstalk’s braves.

She wrote one verse, an Appeal to General Shipp, of the Virginia
Military Institute, on behalf of some cadets who had been expelled for
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insubordination, in which was related the story of some cadets tak-
ing part in the Battle of New Market in 1864.

She was tendered the place of a war correspondent in Cuba, during
the Spanish war.

Eva GRANT MALONEY.
Ll

While much of her writing has been to a large extent fiction, yet she
has written much that is historical, and she enjoys unearthing facts
that have long been overlooked and forgotten.

One of her poems was largely copied by the Southern papers, which
was published in a Richmond paper at the time of the Confederate
Reunion held there. We give a verse of the same:

“On to Richmond! On to Richmond!”
Says the veteran of to day,

As he limps out to the station
In his northern cloth of gray,

3
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And his old canteen is rusted
And his head’s a frosty place!
He has left behind his musket
For his heart is full of peace.” *

“On to Richmond, says he, smiling,
Once again the boys will meet

And the bands will play our Dixie
And the troops be in the street,” &c.

We regret our space forhids more particulars, but this introduction
will be followed by other historical contributions.
W. S. LAIDLEY.

DR. STEPHEN LEY AND FREDERICK CONRAD.

There appeared in the October number of this Magazine an article
entitled, “The Tease Family of Teas Valley and Kanawha, W. Va.”

In my family there was handed down a manuscript written by my
great-great-grand-aunt, Blizabeth Catherine Walls, who wrote of her
recollections of her mother and my great-great-great-grand aunt, Mrs.
John Sharp Watkins, (Louisa Christina Ley), and afterwards Mrs.
Kidd. Mrs. Kidd was the youngest of the six daughters of old Dr.
Stephen Ley, of Landau, Germany. As so many records were destroyed
during the Civil War, Dr. Ley and his family seemed. an unsolvable
mystery, until Mrs. Walls’ manuscript came to light. It seems evidently
written piecemeal, but is a valuable contribution to the history of
that period, as well of the immediate family.

In Germany each man is taught a trade, from the Emperor down,
——as Dr. Ley was taught tanning, and coming to this country for
pleasure and travel, he realized the wonderful possibilities of this
trade in the new country, and used his knowledge to great advantage
te himself and connection. Many of the tanyards he established are
still in existence. When my fathcr, Dr. Archibald Magill Fauntle-
roy, who married Miss Sally Harrison Conrad, of Winchester, Va.,
established himself in Staunton, Va., after the war the house he se-
lected as his home was adjoining in the rear, the tanyard sunk by
old Dr. Ley, and many times I have been rescued from an untimely
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end trying to balance myself in a walk around the narrow ledges of
the tan-vats; and the greatest pleasure we children coveted was to
be allowed to ride the poor bag o’bones of a horse that turned the tan-
bark mill.

In the old family Bible, brought from Germany, and written in
old Grandfather Fred’k Conrad’s hand, the name ofhis wife is spelled
Ley, which has since been spelled in various ways, sometimes Leigh,
and again Lee; but I judge that it must originally have been Ley, as
Fred’k wrote it himself in the Bible.

Dr. Stephen Ley, with his wife, who was born Marie von Unschuld,
came to this country in 1750 ; their third daughter, Maria Clare Ley,
married her cousin, Frederick Conrad; their son, Daniel Holmes
Conrad, married Rebecca Hunter Holmes; their son, Robert Young
Conrad, married Elizabeth Whiting Powell; their daughter, Sally
Harrison Conrad, married my father,- Dr. Archibald Magill Fauntle-
T0y. <

: ANNIE MAGILL FAUNTLEROY.

A SKETCH BY MRS. WALL, OF WINCHESTER, OF HER
ANCESTORS, FOR HER CHILDREN.

My grand-father’s name was Ley, (afterwards spelled Leigh or
Lee), Germans, natives of Landaugh, a city of Germany, near the
Danube, they were of honrable birth and wealthy family, highly edu-
cated in the literature of the day, and professors of the Christian
faith. They had six children, all daughters. In 1750, or there-
abouts, my Grand-father Ley came to America in pursuit of his eldest
daughter Adelaide, who came over some time previous on a visit to
the Colonies, in company with a family of intimate friends, who in-
tended to make their future home here. Not having heard from her
for many months after she arrived in America, he concluded to come
over himself, and embarked with his two daughters, Maria Clara and
Rosanne, in company with Frederick Conrad,—a kinsman, a native
of Balmholden, in the Duchy of Zweibrecken, quite young, of honor-
able birth and wealthy parentage, coming over for pleasure and curios-
ity to see the new world.

L]
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On their arrival in Philadelphia they here learned the said intelli-
gence of the death of Adelaide, which had occurred previous to their
leaving Germany, but they had not received the letter that brought the
sad news. Not wishing to return immediately, he decided to travel and
look at the country. Taking his two remaining daughters he traveled
through Pennsylvania, Maryland and Virginia, becoming each day
more pleased with the beauty and fertility of this country, he deter-
mined to make it his permanent home, and without further delay pur-
chased property in Frederick county, Md., where he sank a tanyard
and planted a vineyard, and took up his ahode.

Sometime after this, his daughter Rosa married Mr. Walter, a
worthy gentlemans they had three daughters, Rosa, Louise and Char-
lotte. Rosa married a memiber of the Maryland bar, a Mr. Brent.

At last becoming restless and leaving Mrs. Walter in full posses-
sion of the property, he left with his daughter, Maria Clara, and his
young kinsman, Conrad, for Winchester, Va., where being much
pleased he again-bhought property, sank a tanyard and planted a hop-
yard. ) »
In September 29th, of the same year, (1757 it should be, Maria
Clare was married to Mr. Conrad, she being 21 years of age and he
34), from them the branch of the Conrad family in the United States
originate, and in this place, Winchester, is the old homestead of all
the "Conrads; here they carried on the tanyard and hopyard, to a
great extent, they employed the best workmen, invested their capital,
—this being the first tanyard that was ever in this part of the coun-
try. Tt was like coining money, T have seen them myself carry gold
home by the basketful. Having now fully decided to remain in Amer-
ica, Grand-father sent to Landaugh, Germany, in the year 1759, for
his wife, and two other daughters, Catherine and Charlotte, who soon
arrived in Frederick City, where they left Charlotte with her married
sister, Mrs. Walter, where she soon after married a Mr. Balzar, a
merchant ; they had three children, one daughter, two sons; John, the
eldest, married a daughter of Mr. Balch, of Georgetown, where some
of his grand-children are still living. The daughter, Louise, married
a respectable gentleman of Washington City.

Grand-father, not many months after the arrival of his wife, my
grand-mother, concluded to give his entire possessions in Winchester
to his son-in-law, Uncle Fred’k Conrad, and look out for another home
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for himself. Taking Grand-mother and his remaining single daugh-
ter Catherine, he went to New London, in Virginia, in 1760 ; here he
again purchased property and having succeeded so well in carrying
on the tanning business in former places, he again sunk a tanyard
and planted a vineyard,—although not being a workman himself, he
seemed to have a passion for tanyards and vineyards. Sometime after
their arrival here his daughter Catherine married a Mr. Teazes (pro-
nounced Tees), a gentleman of wealth and high birth, then.an officer
in the American Army, he had engaged in the war with the Indians,
had been captured by them, in the act of being scalped by them, was
rescued by an Indian squaw under condition of becoming one of her
family, her adopted son, but was finally after seven years restored
to his family, who had long mourned him as lost. Aunt Catharine
Teazes had seven children: three sons and four daughters. The eldest
son, Stephen Teazes, married a Miss Katherine Carrol, of Carrol-
ton, Md., and soon after his marriage he emigrated to western Vir-
ginia, and settled in Kanawha county, where he took up a large body
of land, extending from Mud river to the great Kanawha river,—
a beautiful valley, to which he gave his name, and to this day it goes
by the name of Tees Valley,—he was one of the first settlers of that
country, being there at the time Boone was sent from the country to
the Legislature. Most of his grand-children still reside in Kanawha,
being among the most respectable families of that country—the sians-
fords, Capehearts, Wilsons and Thompsons. Aunt Catherine’s son
John married and remained at the old homestead in New London;
his sisters all remained single but one, they therefore lived with him
until their death, that occurred about two years since,—all dying in
a short time of each other, the eldest being 90 years of age,— all
worthy members of the Presbyterian Church. Tucy married a Mr.

‘Haas, a relative of Uncle Fred’k Conrad’s, of Winchester. William

Teazes, the youngest son, studied medicine in Winchester with his
cousin, Daniel Conrad, for two years, and he and his cousin, Edward
Conrad, Dr. Wolfe, and Alfred T. Thruston, (who graduated in
Europe), all studying at the same time in Winchester, with Dr. Dan-
iel Conrad. William’s health became delicate, he left for New Lon-
don, where he lived but a short time. He never married, but was en-
gaged to his cousin (my sister), Jane Watkins, at the time of his
death ; she also remained single. I have a letter now in my posses-
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sion from Dr. Thruston to cousin, Wm. Teazes, written from Paris,
France, giving an account of the Medical college there, also of the
French society of that day, that is very interesting. '

Some years after the marriage of Aunt Catherine Teazes, grand-
father again gave up his possessions to his son-in-law Teazes, and
left New London for Staunton, where he again purchased property,
sunk a tanyard and planted a vineyard, for the last time, and situated
himself permanently, which grand-mother greatly desired on account
of their youngest daughter, Louisa Christiana, (named after Chris-
tian King Louis, who was then in possession of the throne of France),
whom they left in France with her uncle, grand-mother’s brother, a
member of the King’s Court,—having no children of his own was
anxious to adopt her as his own child. Being young, beautiful and
bighly educated and accomplished and very amiable, she was a great
favorite with all, especially her Royal Highness, the Princess, and her
aunt loved her as her own child, and when her mother came to Amer-
ica refused to give her up, at least until they should become perma-
nently settled in their new home—that was about the time grand-
father settled in Staunton. She became anxious to see her parents,
curious to see the new world and having a good opportunity of com-
ing over with some friends, determined to do so; soon after her land-
ing she came directly to her sister, Mrs. Fred’k Conrad, in Winches-
ter; here she spent & short time, then proceeded to her father in
Staunton, where she afterwards became the wife of Dr. John Sharp
Watkins, my father. Dr. Watkins was a young Englishman from
London, who came to the country in company with the Rev. Alexan-
der Belmain, Rev. North, (Episcopal clergymen), and Mr. Jones
(grand-father of Wm. Jones, of Vaucluse, Va., and others of Fred-
erick county), coming directly to Winchester, which was at that time
one of the principal towns of Virginia, 'where Dr. Belmain located
and became pastor of the old Stone Church. The Rev. Mr. Thurston
being the former pastor, whose daughter afterwards married cousin
Fred’k Conrad, son of old Fred’k Conrad. This church was given
by Lord Fairfax, there he was buried,—this was the second church in
Winchester, the old German Reformed chusch, built by Uncle Conrad,
being the first house of worship in that place.

Dr. Watkins did not remain here long, but in company with Rev.
North went to Staunton, where Rev. North became the pastor of the
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Protestant Episcopal Church, and Dr. Watkins located himself and
soon after married Louisa Christiana Ley (my mother). Dr. Wat-
kins was an eminent physician, commanding the most extensive prac-
tice. It was at this time his nephew, John Watkins, a member of the
British Parliament, came over on business for the Government, he
remained here and became a member of the first assembly that met
in Richmond, and was at the time of great peril, sheltered in his Un-
cle’s house in Staunton during the time of the Revolution. He after-
wards married a lady of Richmond, who after his death married Rev.
Mr. Clay, father of the late Henry Clay, of Ashland.

Not long after the marriage of my mother, grand-mother Ley died,
in full assurance of a home in heaven; she was a superior and ex-
cellent woman, interesting and affectionate in every relation of life.
She was buried in the old Episcopal Churchyard in Staunton. Soon
after her death grand-father became restless, and desirous to see his
children once more, left for a visit to his daughter, Mrs. Conrad, in
Winchester,—although being more than 80 years old, he was as ac-
tive as a boy, remarkably handsome and youthful in appearance, al-
ways social and pleasant. He never returned to Staunton, but died at
Uncle Conrad’s at an advanced age, leaving all his children hand-
somely situated, all of them wealthy. '

Uncle and Aunt Conrad had two daughters, Catherine and Betsy;
five sons, Fred’k, John, Daniel, Stephen and Edward. Stephen died
young. John was a merchant and married Betsy, daughter of Col.
Rutherford, Congressman, and sister of Mrs. Gen. Peyton, of Win-
chester. They had four children; two daughters, both named Maria
(one died), the other married Mr. Hammond, of Jefferson; the two
sons, Daniel Peyton Conrad, married Miss Richards, of Teeshurg;
they had three children, Bettie, Peyton, and Clememtine who died
young.

Mrs. Conrad is now living with her remaining children in Newark,
Ohio. Their other son, Rutherford, married his cousin, Margaret
Peyton, sister of Mrs. Wm. L. Clark, of Winchester. They had two
sons, Henry and John, both died young. After cousin John Conrad’s
death his widow marriefl Dr. Davis, of Charlestown, W. Va.; they
ferson county, Va.
had one daughter, Mary, who married Mr. Keys, of Charlestown, Jef-

Cousin Catherine’s eldest daughter married Mr. Groverman, of
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Alexandria, an Irish-Scotch shipping merchant. It is really believed
he was a Hollander by birth. They had four children, Maria and
Betsy. Maria married Mr. Jamison, of that place, where she still
lives. Betsy died. The two sons died young.

Betsy married General Young, of Alexandria, and.had two daugh-
ters, Elizabeth and Roberta. Lizzie married Mr. Fendall, a lawyer,
of Washington. Roberta married Mr. Brown, a lawyer also, (after-
wards Governor of Mississippi). Their two sons are now in the
Navy—William and James Young.

Cousin Daniel Conrad, M. D., went to Scotland to graduate in med-
icine ; sometime after his return he married Rebecca, daughter of Col.
Joseph Holmes, and sister of Governor Holmes and Hugh Holmes,
of Winchester. They had two sons; David Holmes, who married
Nancy, daughter of Judge Carr, of Winchester, and now resides in
Martinsburg. His other son, Robert Young married Betty Whiting,
daughter of Major Burr Powell, of Loudon, Va.

Fred’k Conrad married Sidney, daughter of Colonel Thurston, and
sister of Mrs. Col. Magill, of Winchester. They had four daughters,
Nancy, Sidney, Mary, and Lizzie; four sons, Fred’k, Charles, Alfred,
and Francis. They all left Winchester for a home in Louisiana, where
they all married well and prospered.

Cousin Edward Conrad married Harriett, daughter of General-
Roberdeau, a very 'wealthy Scotch gentleman; they had two sons,
James, of United States Army, and Daniel, M. D., who married
Sarah Jane, daughter of Alfred H. Powell, of Winchester, and is now
practicing medicine there. Grand-mother’s youngest daughter, Lou-
isa Ley, married Dr. Watkins, (and lived at the old homestead in
Staunton), had four children; one son, who died in infancy, and three
daughters, Maria Clara, Elizabeth Catherine, and Jane Lydia. After
the death of my father, Dr. Watkins,—who died in great peace and
much lamented as a physician, layman of the Protestant Episcopal
Church, and interred with great honors in the old churchyard heside
his friend, Rev. Mr. North, whose marble tablet still remains in the
walls of the old Protestant Episcopal Church of that place,—his two
daughters, my eldest sister and myself, (Maria was educated in Win-
chester), boarded with Aunt and Uncle Conrad. There we remained
five or six years, our cousins were as brothers and sisters, and we never
lost this devoted affection and kind remembrance for each other.
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Aunt and Uncle Conrad loved us as their children and treated us as
such. Soon after my sister Maria left school she married Mr. Geogge
White, son of Col. Hugh White, of Tennessee, and brother of the late
Judge Hugh White, United States Senator. Maria had nine chil-
dren ; six daughters, two living in Winchester ; one son living in Lon-
don and one in Alabama. I was engaged to my cousin, Daniel Con-
rad, for three or four years, and was to have been married to him on
his return from Scotland, but during his stay there I became religious,
and against the will of all my relations joined the Methodist Church;
on his return I thought better to break the engagement, as he was
very wild and gay, and very much opposed to my being a Methodist,
(who were a despised people in that day) :; not long after this I be-
came acquainted with Rev. James Walls, of York, Pa., a minister of
the Methodist Episcopal Church, who was originally from Wales,
wealthy and of honorable birth. We were married in Staunton at my
mother’s ; afterwards lived in Winchester. We had six children; four
daughters and two sons; William and John, Louisa Clara, Maria R.,
Elizabeth C. and Jane A. Dr. William married a lady of Bath, Miss
Mary Burnestur; they had one son, died in infancy; one daughter,
Anna L., who married A. B. Davidson, son of Rev. Dr. Davidson,
pastor of the Presbyterian church of Frederick City. A. B. David-
son is a wholesale merchant of Baltimore; they had four children,
three daughters, one son.

Dr. John W. S. Walls married; his first wife was Miss Littler,
daughter of Captain Littler, of Hardy county; his present wife (a
cousin), Miss Hansford,—daughter of Elizabeth Teazes and Major
Hansford, brother of Milton Hansford, who married Mary Park,
grand-niece of General Washington, being a grand-child of Uncle
Stephen Teazes, of Teas Valley. Dr. Walls has but one child, a son
by his first marriage. The eldest and youngest daughters, Elizabeth
and Maria Watkins, are living at their old homestead in Winchester.
Jane Watkins never married, but lived in Winchester until her death;
she was 80 when she died, and was a most excellent woman, beloved
by all.

There was not such a house in all the country for hospitality, socia-
bility, gayety and plea.i\'uro as Uncle Fred’k Conrad’s. Lord Fairfax
and Delmark, with their attendants, were there frequently, and being
particular friends, they would all meet,—ladies and gentlemen of the
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neighborhood, when the grand assembly balls were to take place,—
to have their heads cushioned and powdered for the dance. Tt was
also a home for the stranger, and the poor were never turned away
empty. Aunt was a great Christian; she was one of the excellent of
the earth, though frequently they drank deeply of the pleasures of
the world, but my dear Aunt moved on in the even tenor of her way,
soaring above it.

Although grand-father and mother being so high-minded and aris-
tocratic and Uncle Conrad so exclusive, she remained the same meek
Christian until her death. They lived long to enjoy life and see their
children comfortably situated, and died in peace and hope of a bliss-
ful eternity. They were members of the Otterbine or German Re-
formed Church, where they, with nearly all of our ancestors’ remains
are deposited in the graveyard of said church. Thus have they all
passed away; we all do fade as a leaf. There was not a blemish, as
far as the family tree can be traced; all great, noble, wealthy and
glorious for this world honors,— where all is pershing in the using.
But I fondly hope that many of them had a right to the tree of life,
and heirs to a better inheritance in a brighter world than this.

I have sketched these outlines of our history for the benefit of my
family and relations private use, that they may learn that there is
nothing here on earth deserves of joy and permanent affection, for
every jest has a snare and every pleasure a poison.

(Signed) Mgs. BE. C. WALLs.
Winchester, 1842.

This manuscript was commenced in 1792, and seems to have been
closed in 1842—fifty years in preparing, the latter relating to exist-
ing branches of the family confirms these dates. (Note by Daniel
Holmes Conrad.)

DR. D. H. CONRAD’S STATEMENT.

January 27, 1860. 1 have gotten the written manuseript of Mrs.
Walls, the wife of the Rev. James Walls, copied for me as her remi-
niscences of her family and mine—her mother, the widow of Dr.
Watkins, afterwards Mrs. Kidd, was the sister of my grand-mother,
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both daughters of Stephen Ley, (pronounced Lay, being the old
French for law), who was of Landau. My grand-father’s mother was
a French Huegenot, according to the tradition of the family. Deux-
ponts, where my grand-father was born in July 28, 1723, was then a
dutchy of the Upper Rhine circle and annexed to France under the
wars of the French Revolution, afterwards to Bavaria—his wife, my
grand-mother, was therefore Mrs. Walls’ aunt, my mother’s sister.

Frederick Conrad came over with his father-in-law (to be) to this
country at a period not exactly known to me, but several years before
he was married, which was in 1757, he being 34 and my grand-mother
21 years of age. They were married in Winchester, Va., where my
grand-father was one of the first settlers and a thriving, wealthy, hos-
pital man. The tradition of his liberal housekeeping and open hos-
pitality long prevailed in the town. In a publication of the banished
Quakers, who were sent by General Washington from Philadelphia to
the interior, Winchester was fixed upon as the place of their enforced
sojourn. Their descendants have for private distribution printed the
Dairies of some of these suspected men, in which among other things
they record the trouble of getting comfortable quarters in this (then)
small town, and finding “Friend Phillip Burk” not sufficient to hold
them, all (the only decent inn in town) “the rest of us went to Fred-
erick Conrad’s”, who opened his house to these worthy Quakers, whose
offence consisted in refusing to swear allegiance to the new Govern-
ment, and as they alleged not because of traitorous feelings or senti-
ments, but because they followed literally the Bible injunction to
“swear not at all,” be that as it may, my good grand-father, though
a staunch Whig, all through the contest and to the day of his death,
opened his house and home to these men who were hurried from Phila-
delphia before they could provide themselves 'with money and neces-
saries. They remained in Winchester and the neighborhood for a con-
siderable time under the control of my other grand-father, Joseph
Holmes, who was Commissary of Prisoners, and had the care of those
also who had been taken at the defeat of Burgoyne, and were sta-
tioned in Winchester under the command of Tieutenant-Colonel
Steward, and Baron Reidesel, chief officers respectively of the English
and Hessian prisoners.

Old Dr. Ley, my grand-mother’s father, died in Winchester at an
advanced age, before my grand-father’s death, he came up from Staun-
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ton, where he lived, and spent the close of his life with his daughter
and son-in-law. i

Mrs. Walls seems to have understood that her grand-father’s young
kinsman (grand-father, Frederick Conrad,) was of wealthy and hon-
orable parentage; certain it is. He was a man of wealth, and died
possessed of a large estate for the time he lived in. Mr. Frederick
Conrad was before the Revolution a vestryman and senior warden of
old Frederick parish. Bishop Meade mentions that he remained a
vestryman from 1764 until'1780, sixteen years. The Bishop informed
me further that he as senior warden some time during this period
was deputed to go down to the chapel near Millwood, and investigate
certain charges against the treasurer of that branch of the parish. He
found the incumbent delinquent, or in some way to blame, and de-
posed him from his office and shut up the church. This must have
been after the rector, old Colonel Thurston, had resigned and gone
into the army, and the care of the parish was left to the vestry. Af-
ter the vestries were abolished in 1780, Frederick Conrad, who was
attached (I suppose by early education) to the German Reformed
Church, built the church of that denomination east of Mr. Jacob Ba-
ker’s property (formerly Judge Tucker’s) out of his own funds, and
the graveyard thereto annexed contains the remains of this old patri- |
arch of Winchester, of his wife and son Stephen, of my grand-father
and grand-mother. I think that Lord Fairfax granted in the first
place the whole of that series of graveyards—the Lutheran, German
Reformed and Presbyterian—to my grand-father, and he ceded the
Lutheran and Presbyterian, and perhaps Catholic, to their respective
Church authorities,—such I have understood to be the fact from my
brother, who once investigated the title. - My grand-father’s house
was very often visited by the old proprietor (as may be seen by Mrs.
Walls’ account), Frederick Conrad, the elder, who died while my
father was prosecuting his medical studies in Edinburg and London
about the year 1792 or 93. He left his son Frederick executor and
residuary legatee—he made rapid disposition of the estate, not only
his own part, but of the legacies of my father, and of Dr. Edward
Conrad, his youngest brother,—who was educated by my father, and
died in Winchester in 1820, an eminent physician, leaving a widow
(the daughter of General Roberdeau) and two sons, all now alive,
1860. My father, after his brother Fred’k had removed to Louisiana,
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brought suit on the executors bond of Fred’k Conrad the 2d, his
brother, for the legacy to Uncle Edward. The bond proved defective
and the sureties, Col. Chas. Magill and Henry Dangerfield, (Fred-
erick Conrad’s brothers-in-law), were thus exonerated from the heavy
liabilities incurred as sureties, and Judge Carr, the Chancellor, in
deciding the case on the principles of equity, decreed that my father
who had received some advances, which ‘were deducted from his legacy,
should pay over the half to his brother’s estate—I found this decree
standing against us in favor of Edward Conrad’s children, on my re-
turn . from the West, and knowing the liberal expenditures made hy
Dr. Daniel Conrad towards the education, support and settlement of
their father, Dr. Edward, I asked of them to release the decree, which
they did. My father thus brought suit for his brother’s benefit, and
gained a loss, on the principle that “Equality is Equity”—while the
real delinquent, my worthy uncle Fred’k, being himself in Louisiana
and insolvent, I suppose; got scot free of that and other heavy claims
which my father had to pay for him. His son, my cousin Fred’k, of
Baton Rouge, is rich enough to buy out all my father’s descendants.

The, present descendants of Fred’k Conrad, my father’s brother,
who moved to Louisiana with his father-in-law, Colonel Thruston,
are:

1. Fred’k D. C., of Baton Rouge. 2. Chas. M. C., (late Secretary
of War under Fillmore). 3. The families of two sons, Alfred T. C.
and Francis. The daughters I know of were: Mrs. Towles, Mrs.
Harding, Mrs. Palfrey, and Mrs. Weeks. Alfred, married to Nannie
Hunter, daughter of M. T. H. and Chas. Weeks. The other daughters
I do not know whom they married. Mrs. Young’s children and grand-
children are in Washington and Philadelphia and Mississippi. BEliz-
abeth, recently dead, married to Phillip Fendall, Esq., has left a
large family. Mrs. Brown, wife of Albert G. Brown, late Governor
of Mississippi, and now Senator in Congress, has two children: Capt.
William Young, of the United States Navy, now in Philadelphia, has
a number of children ; he married a daughter of Judge Black, of Dela-
ware.

It would require a family tree, however, to show the large number
of the descendants of the old Fred’k and Maria Clara Ley.

I remember Mrs. Wall’s mother, Mrs. Watkins, afterwards Mrs.
Kidd,—who was it seems educated at the court of France, (see manu-
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script)—and when I read this the other day and learned it for the
first time, it accounted to me for the appearance, dress, and manners
of this fine old lady. We children used always at Christmas and
Easter to visit Aunt Kidd, and I remember her yet, a stately, fair-
skinned, large old lady, dressed in the highest style, in Mrs. Walls’
poor old habitation, in black satin with rich lace; and I always thought
she must look like a queen. I had no idea that she had been compan-
ion and protege of the princess of that court. She certainly was one
of the most imposing and handsome old women that ever 1 saw.

Mrs. Walls, the lady who writes this queer family history, was one
of the most beautiful women, and excellent, that ever lived. The fam-
ily was always poor in their circumstances—the old parson work as
a carpenter (as his divine Master did) and he was one of the most de-
voted, consistent, zealous Christian ministers that ever lived, and Tied
triumphing in his faith. -

MANUSCRIPT OF DANIEL HoLMES CoNRAD, 1860.

Dr. Stephen Ley married—Innocence (?), Landau, Germany.

Maria Clare Ley married Frederick Conrad, Balholden, Zwiebreck-
en, Germany.

Daniel Conrad married Rebecca Holmes, daughter of Colonel Jo-
seph Holmes.

Robert Young Conrad married Betty Whiting Powell, daughter of
Major Burr Powell.

Sally Harrison Conrad married Archibald Magill Fauntleroy.

HUNTER. »

Andrew Hunter, the first one from whom is traced an unbroken
line, was born about 1640 in Scotland, it is thought at the ancestral
seat of the Hunter’s since 1150, Hunterston, county Ayr. He settled
at Clogan, Londonderry, Ireland. Had four children. Died 1734,
living to almost the centry mark. His eldest son, Hugh Hunter, mar-
ried Isabella Semple, had five children—Andrew, Nicholas, Elizabeth
(married Carr), David, and Nancy, who married a Willock, and re-
mained in Ireland. He died in 1732, naming his father as executor
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in his will, made in the Parish of Tamlaghtfinlagan, county of Lon-
donderry, Ireland. The Hunter estate adjoined the Holmes estate
of Bally Kelly, both families owning extensive property. Andrew
had the Clogan estate; Paul Hunter one-half of Machrymore; John
Hunter had Tartna Kelly, etc., etc. The Hunter, Holmes, and Carr

ANNE MAGIiLL FAUNTLEROY.

families intermarried, and members of each family came to America
about the same time, 1740-50.

Rev. Andrew Hunter emigrated and settled in Princeton, New Jer-
ey. Died without issue.

David Hunter and his brother Nicholas settled in York, Pa., about
1740. David bought land in Strabane, county Adams (originally part
of York county), and founded a small town, first called Strabane,
now called Hunterston, six miles north of Gettyshurg, Pa. He was
Captain in one of the two York county companies in the expedition
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to Fort Duquesne (Pittsburg), and one of two Commissioners in mak-
ing settlement with the ememy. He married Martha Mcllhenny
about 1746 ; she was daughter of Moses McIlhenny, and his wife, Re-
becca Hooe. The McIlhennys had also come from Londonderry, Ire-
land. There were six children of this union: Rebecca, born Novem-
ber, 1748, married Joseph Holmes, Commissary General of Prisoners
at Winchester, Va., during the Revolutionary War; Rev. Andrew,

~born 1751, adopted by his uncle, Rev. Andrew Hunter, of Princeton,

N. J.; Moses, born 1753, married daughter of Adam Stephen, and
widow of Alexander Spotswood Dandridge, whose sister married Pat-
rick Henry ; Nancy, born 1756, married Joseph Kean; Martha, known
throughout the connection as “Aunt Patty,” died unmarried ; David,
born 1761, married Elizabeth Pendleton.

Moses Hunter and Ann Stephen Dandridge had issue: Ann Eve-
lina, who married Henry St. George Tueker; Moses, married Mary
Snickers, daughter of Bdmund Snickers and Frances Washington,
daughter of ‘Warner Washington, who built “Audley” in Clark coun-
ty; David, died unmarried, was Liutenant in United States Army,
killed 18183. .

Rev. Andrew Hunter (2nd) marrier first, Miss Riddle; second,
Miss Stockton, daughter of Richard Stockton, Signer of the Declara-
tion of Independence.

ANNE MAGILL FAUNTLEROY.

THE ENGLE FAMILY OF SHENANDOAH VALLEY.

BY J. M. ENGLE.

After the Indians abandoned the country of this valley in 1754 and
went west of the Alleghenies to join the French on the Ohio, there
came numbers of settlers from Pennsylvania to the Shenandoah val-
ley in Virginia.

In 1754 Melchor Engle bought 397 acres of land of Lord Thomas
Fairfax at the head spring of Elk Branch Creek, near Duffields, Va.,
and around this spring erected a stone fort as a place of safety for
himself and neighbors when the Indian ‘war parties came into the
valley. '
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Melchor Engle and his three sons, John, William and Philip, had
come down from Lancaster, Pa., a few years before. An old deed
for John Link farm, dated January 1, 1754, for 397 acres, in pos-
session of the family, is the oldest record.

This old settler, with Adam Moler, hig friend, had left Germany
and came to Philadelphia, Pa., in search of new land and a home in
the new country, and on out to Lancaster county, Pa., and down
the Cumberland valley, via the Pack Horse Ford, now Antietam Ford,
Md., where General Lee’s army crossed to battle 100 years later.

Both these old settlers got large tracts of land, and their children
fill the lower valley.

John Engle went into the Revolutionary war and was killed in bat-
tle, and books in the library at Washington, D. C., show 300 acres of
land still due him for service as a non-commissioned officer.

William Engle moved up the valley to Capon Bridge and raised a
large family. One in each generation a Methodist minister. Rev. J.
J. Engle, retired, of Berryville, Va., and his son, Rev. J. S. Engle,
Salem, Va., are of him, as was also Lieutenant Holland Engle, of the
Stonewall Brigade, Virginia Infantry, C. S. A. Rev. J. J. Engle
was Chaplain, 42d Virginia Infantry. :

Not all the Engles, however, served in Southern armies. Commo-
dore Frederick Engle, of Chester, Pa., branch, was sent by the United
States Government to bring home the man-of-war Hartford from the
China station in 1861, and on reaching there found part of the ship’s
officers discussing on which side they would serve. He promptly or-
dered them under arrest and brought the malcontents home in irons.
He had charge of the Philadelphia navy yard during the war and
died a Rear Admiral in 1868.

Philip Engle, Sr., served in Revolutionary war under General
Gates, and at its close settled down and married Mary Darke, the sis-
ter of Geeneral Wm. Darke, his near neighbor. He had eleven chil-
dren by this marriage, and later in life married Isabella Pollock, who
bore him seven children, making eighteen in all.

Their names are: First, John; second, Joseph; third, William;
fourth, Philip, Jr.; fifth, Samuel; sixth, George; seventh, Michael;
eighth, Jesse; ninth, Mary ; tenth, Ann, and eleventh, James, by Mary
Darke, his first wife; and twelfth, Benjamin ; thirteenth, Betsy; four-
teenth, Phoebe; fifteenth, Naomi; sixteenth, Thomas; seventeenth,

i
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Moses, and eighteenth, Susan, by Isabella Pollock, his second wife.
At the time of death of Philip, Sr., 1830, these had seventy-five
grand-children.

Most all these raised large families and are settled in the valley. Sev-
eral brothers near Springfield, Ohio, and farther west, in California
and Oregon, to which place their forefathers went in 1849 to dig gold
and never came back, but settled on land there.

Near 100 of these old settlers are buried in the Engle graveyard,
half way between Duffields, W. Va., and Shenandoah Junction. Also
General William Darke; his son, Captain John Darke; his brother,
Samuel Darke, and Captain Wm. Duryea, his brother-in-law. A
new fence has been erected by Joseph E. Engle, and a good $1,500
marble monument put up to Joseph Engle, the bachelor banker, who
died in 1880, and left $40,000 to four brothers in Ohio. It was from
this graveyard that the West Virginia Historical Society removed
the tombstone of Catharine Bierlin to Charleston, as the oldest tomb
in West Virginia. It is believed she came from Pennsylvania with
either the Engle or Darke families.

Three of Philip Engle, Jr’s., grand-sons commanded cavalry com-
panies in the Civil war and were gallant officers, Captains George
and Samuel D. Engle, of Charlestown and Leetown, brothers, and
Captain Jacob H. Engle, of near Harper’s Ferry. The latter having
been chosen a Muster Captain years before the war broke out, was a
trained officer at the beginning and served four years in General Ros-
ser’s Division, taking part in almost every battle and many skirmishes
and hand to hand fights, in ‘which the cavalry of. the army of North-
ern Virginia engaged in finding out the position and routes of the
opposite army. All three died in last five years, aged over 75 years.

Many others, Engles, served as privates, while on the other side,
the Ohio kinsman, donned the blue and followed Sherman in his
march to the sea. Such is the influence of location and interest in
war times.

Only one donned the cloth, Rev. Arrie Shadai M. Engle, son of James
W. Engle, is now pastor of Presbyterian church, Berkeley Springs,
W. Va., and of his five hrothers, Jesse A. Engle, is County Superin-
tendent of Schools of Jefferson county, W. Va., and another brother,
James M. Engle, is the first civil service appointment from West Vir-
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ginia and has been in the Treasury Department, Washington, D. C.,
since 1884.

Robert N. Engle, at home place on the Potomas; Carlton D. Engle,
in business, Baltimore, Md.; and Williard F. Engle, superlntendent
electric railroad, Springfield, Ohio.

The following obituary of Philip Engle, Sr., written by Dr. Waters,
Lis family physician, is quaint:

OBITUARY.

DIED NOVEMBER 21sT, 1830.

Departed this life on the 21st ult., Mr. Philip Engle, Sr., of this
county, aged 87 years, one month and twelve days. Mr. Engle was
born in the City of Lancaster, Pa., and emigrated to Jefferson coun-
ty, Va., at the age of 12 years, with his father, Mr. Melchor Engle,
who was one of the first settlers in this county. He settled on Elk
Branch Creek, where he left a handsome estate to his offspring, wpon
which the deceased resided until his death.

At an early age he married Miss Mary Darke, sister of General Wil-
liam Darke, of Revolutionary War, by whom he had eleven children.
After her death he married Isabella Pollock, by whom he had seven
children, making eighteen in all; he also had seventy-five grand-chil-
dren and forty-five great-grand children.

During the Revolutionary struggle he served a campaign under
General Gates in the Carolinas, and was fortunate enough not to get
into active service, owing probably to being one of the General’s
guards. His patriotism, however,. was never doubted, as he ever hore
the mark, republican and exalted in the rise of his country to power
and glory.

He was an affectionate husband and indulgent parent and obliging
neighbor; nor was this all, he was an humble follower- of the meek
and lowly Jesus, in whose merits and mediations he trusted for salva-
e tion;

When he left this earthly tabernacle of clay, it was with the hope
that he would enter it again at the great rising day corrected and re-
vised.

Wirniam WarTer, M. D.

AN
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WARS BETWEEN ENGLAND AND FRANCE.

From a Baltimore paper of 1800, we take the following list of wars
between England and France:

In 1116, and continued 2 years.

In 1141, and continued 1 year.

In 1161, and continued 25 years.

' In 1201, and continued 15 years.
In 1224, and continued 19 years.
In 1294, and continued 5 years.
In 1339, and continued 21 years.
In 1368, and continued 52 years.
In 1422, and continued 49 years.
In 1492, and econtinued 1 month.
In 1512, and continued 2 years.
In 1521, and continued 6 years.
In 1549, and continued 1 year.
In 1552, and continued 2 years.
In 1562, and continued 2 years.
In 1627, and continued 2 years.
In 1666, and continued 1 year.
In 1689, and continued 10 years.
In 1702, and continued 11 years.
In 1744, and continued 4 years.
In 1756, and continued 7 years.
In 1778, and continued 5 years.
In 687 years there were wars in 242 of those years.

WHO WAS MRS. GEORGE CLENDENIN?

EpiTor oF WEST VIRGINiA HISTORICAT, MAGAZINE :

In your interesting number for July, 1904, in an article on the
Clendenins, page 194, the author states that “Jemima, the wife of
George Clendenin, was said to be the sister of Thomas L‘winGr of
Ohio.” ! | %% p!}ﬁ‘,

I wish to correct the inference from that statement for I presume
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the author would not publish all the “said to bes” that she has heard
and is giving weight to this tradition of publishing it.

There is only one “Thomas Ewing, of Ohio,” unless some qualify-
ing phrase is used. His life, to a longer or shorter extent, is pub-
lished in every general hiography and the impossiblity of the state-
ment could easily have been ascertained. e was horn December 28,
1789. His father, St. George Ewing, was born in 1754, eight years
after George Clendenin’s birth, according to the article in question.

While Clendenin’s wife might have been younger than himself,
she was many years older than any of the Thomas Ewing’s sisters,
for in the year 1796, when your article states, that George Clendenin
visited his married daughter in Marietta, Thomas Ewing’s eldest sis-
ter was but fifteen and was not married for some years later. His
eldest niece was born in 1810. Thomas Ewing’s grand-children are
not ignorant of his family, either near or remote, and there was neith-
er aunt, grand-aunt, nor cousin, nor any relative on this side of the
water, who ever married a Clendenin.

The probable explanation of the mistaken association is to be found
in the interesting article contributed by Mr. A. E. Ewing, of Grand
Rapids, when ancestors were associated with the romantic period of
Virginia history and were connected by marriage with the Clen-
denins.

Thomas Ewing was born in Ohio county, Va., but was taken to
Ohio as an infant; and his sole connection with the State, matrimo-
nial or otherwise, was his boiling salt there in 1812-14 to procure the
means for a college education.

Yours very truly,
MAarTA EwiNg MARTIN.

New Straitsville, Ohio, March 16, 1905. .
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be. The most we can now give are the tables of contents of all the
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